Metal-organic frameworks for the adsorptive removal of pharmaceutically active compounds (PhACs): Comparison to activated carbon

Nicholaus Prasetya^{a,*}, I. Gede Wenten^{b,c}, Matthias Franzreb^a, Christof Wöll^a

^a Institute of Functional Interface (IFG), Karlsruhe Institute of Technology, Hermann-von-Helmholtz-Platz 1, 76344 Eggenstein-Leopoldshafen, Germany ^b Research Centre for Nanoscience and Nanotechnology, Institut Teknologi Bandung, Jalan Ganesha 10, Bandung 40132, Indonesia ^c Department of Chemical Engineering, Institut Teknologi Bandung, Jalan Ganesha 10, Bandung 40132, Indonesia

ABSTRACT

Keywords: Activated carbon Metal-organic framework Adsorption Pharmaceutical active compounds During the past few years, there has been growing concern about the presence of various pharmaceutically active compounds (PhACs) in water systems. Although their concentrations could be considered relatively low, their long-term negative impacts on the aquatic ecosystem and human beings cannot be neglected. Therefore, significant efforts have been directed towards finding an effective water treatment method that can completely remove PhACs from water systems. Among the available strategies, adsorption could be considered the most feasible because of a number of advantages, such as high effectiveness and low cost. Until now, activated carbon (AC) has been widely used as the main adsorbent to accomplish this task. However, over the last two decades, there has been growing interest in the development of metal-organic frameworks (MOFs). As a relatively new class of porous material, MOFs could be deployed as an effective adsorbent to remove PhACs from water. However, after more than 20 years of research and development of MOFs, the main question remains: could MOF outperform AC as the most-widely used adsorbent to accomplish this task? This article then tries to answer this question by conducting an extensive comparative study of the recent adsorption performances of MOF and AC towards various PhACs. Through this comparison, a clear difference in adsorption performance between the two adsorbents could be established. In addition, this article also discusses the adsorption mechanisms and various factors that could affect the adsorption performance in each adsorbent. Lastly, some future perspectives are also given which could be used as a guideline in the future studies. This comprehensive analysis could then be expected to guide the selection of either AC or MOF as an effective adsorbent to remove PhACs from water systems.

Contents

1.	Introduction	2		
2. Adsorbent synthesis				
	2.1. Activated carbon	3		
	2.2. Metal-organic frameworks	3		
3. Factors affecting PhACs removal in AC and MOF				
	3.1. Pore size	4		
	3.2. Surface properties and functional groups	8		
	3.3. Natural organic matter	9		
	3.4. pH	10		
	3.5. Temperature	11		
4.	Performance of AC and MOFs in PhACs removal	11		
	4.1. Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs	11		

* Corresponding author.

E-mail address: nicholaus.prasetya@partner.kit.edu (N. Prasetya).

	4.2.	2. Antibiotics			
	4.3.	Others PhACs	15		
		4.3.1. Anticonvulsants	15		
		4.3.2. Anticholesterolemic drugs	16		
		4.3.3. Beta-blockers	16		
5.	Outlo	ok and future studies	16		
	5.1.	Investigation in real and more complex environments	16		
	5.2.	Adsorbent separation and regeneration	17		
	5.3.	Adsorbent stability and integrity	18		
	5.4.	Economic viability and sustainability	18		
	5.5.	Investigation regarding the adsorption sites both in AC and MOFs	19		
6.	Concl	usion	19		
	Declaration of Competing Interest				
	Ackno	owledgments	20		
	Refer	- ences	20		

1. Introduction

The presence of contaminants of emerging concern (CECs) in water systems has recently been a matter of growing concern. Various activities, including household, agricultural, and industrial, can be the main source of CECs. In the past, monitoring of these particular compounds was often neglected because of the various challenges related to their relatively low concentrations and the analytical methods [1]. However, the presence of CECs and their negative impacts to the aquatic ecosystem and human beings can no longer be ignored.

CECs can usually be grouped based on the purpose of the compound, resulting in at least five common CEC groups: pharmaceuticals, lifestyle compounds, endocrine-disrupting compounds and hormones, flame retardants, and pesticides [2]. Among these groups, one of the most prominent classes that has growing concerns about their removal from the environment is pharmaceutically active compounds (PhACs) because of the growing pharmaceutical industry since the beginning of the industrial age and the continuous consumption of such products by human beings. This has led to the massive production of various PhACs, with some now easily obtainable as over-the-counter medicine, which creates difficulties in limiting their consumption. These conditions contribute to the discharge of PhACs into the surrounding environment worldwide, and some PhACs have been detected as far as Antarctica [3,4]. Although the concentration of PhACs in water systems are usually very low (in the range of nanogram to microgram per liter), their continuous release and accumulation can have negative impacts on the aquatic ecosystem [3]. Furthermore, it is also possible that, at some point, such negative impacts will be borne by human beings. This is backed by the fact that PhACs are bioactive compounds, which could cause various toxicological and hazardous effects to both the environments and living things [5].

In addition to the above causes, the ineffectiveness of the process for removing PhACs from the environment is also a contributing factor exacerbating the PhAC pollution [6]. The efficacy of the PhAC removal from water systems depends heavily on the technology or method that is used for the water treatment [1]. When the applied method is not very effective, the pharmaceutical compounds can still be present in drinking water [7]. Therefore, highly effective water treatment strategies that can completely remove these compounds has become an emerging topic in the field of environmental science and engineering during the last few years [8]. There are several strategies that can be employed to address the issue, such as electrochemical treatment [9], photodegradation [10], ozonation [11], biodegradation [12], and adsorption [13]. Among these strategies, adsorption could be considered one of the best approaches because it offers numerous advantages, such as process simplicity, high effectiveness, fast removal rate, avoidance of toxic byproducts, and low cost.

Until now, most adsorption processes have used activated carbon (AC) in either granular or powdered form. However, recent investigations have shown the possibility of employing various new materials, such as graphene oxide (GO) [14], mesoporous silica [15], covalent organic frameworks (COFs) [16], and metal–organic frameworks (MOFs) [17]. Among all of these possibilities, MOFs could be considered the most promising alternative to AC. In addition to the relatively mature development of MOF synthesis, its pore tailorability and functionalization render this particular material with the potential to increase its effectiveness and efficiency in removing PhACs from water systems. Of course, a critical attention has to be paid regarding the water stability of MOFs before they can be deployed in a real application for PhACs removal [18]. However, the number of water-stable MOFs is sufficiently large to still offer a vast amount of suitable materials.

This trend in the use of MOF for PhACs removal can then be clearly depicted in Fig. 1, which shows the number of published studies using AC and MOFs for PhACs adsorption. As can be seen, the number of studies using MOFs has increased consistently over the last 10 years. Though it has not yet surpassed the number of studies using AC, this trend clearly shows an increasing interest in the use of MOFs for PhACs removal. However, the extent to which MOFs compete with AC in adsorbing PhACs is not yet known.



Fig. 1. Number of publications in Scopus based on different keywords for activated carbon (gray) and metal–organic frameworks (rose). The data was obtained until early October 2022.

This review article intends to answer this question. Some previous reviews also discussed the performance of AC [19–21] or MOFs [17,22–25] towards various CECs or PhACs regarding adsorption capability. Differing from the published literature, in this review article, we intend to give a fresh perspective by comparing the performance of AC and MOFs side by side. By thoroughly investigating and comparing the performance of both adsorbents, a clear comparison of the two materials could be obtained and aid in deciding which adsorbents are best to be used and which areas need to be further developed.

2. Adsorbent synthesis

2.1. Activated carbon

AC is an amorphous carbon-containing porous material that has been widely investigated as a commercially available adsorbent to remove various contaminants in water and wastewater. Despite its commerciality, various research is still conducted in which AC is produced using various biomass sources, such as algae [26], apple tree branches [27], bamboo waste [28], cocoa shells [29], coconut shells [30–32], corn straw [33], olive stones [34–36], tea waste [37,38], sugarcane bagasse [39,40], pine tree [32], or potato peel [41], and also from the combination of various sources [42]. In addition, AC can also be produced from the biological sludge from wastewater treatment plants [43]. The production of AC using various types of waste is attractive because it could increase the economical aspect and contribute to the sustainability of AC production.

AC production usually consists of two main steps: carbonization and physical or chemical activation. The carbonization process is performed through pyrolysis in an oxygen-limited environment. The presence of oxygen must be limited to avoid the full oxidation of carbon, which produces char. Afterwards, the carbon can be physically or chemically activated. Physical activation of carbon usually involves an oxidizing agent, such as O_2 , steam, or gaseous mixtures, and is performed at high temperature. Various chemicals, such as K_2CO_3 and KOH, can be used as chemical activating agents. AC can then be produced in a granular or powder form. Although differing in particle size, both forms of AC can be effectively used for water treatment.

The pore structure of AC can be influenced by different treatments during the production process. For example, activation using KOH can yield AC with higher Brunauer-Emmett-Teller (BET) surface area and slightly smaller pore size than K₂CO₃activated AC [27]. Increasing the amount of KOH during the activation process is also beneficial in increasing the surface area of the resulting AC and creating more uniform pores because it can eliminate ash and tar from the surface [44]. During the activation process, temperature also plays an important role. In this regard, an increase in the mesoporous region in KOH-activated and K₂CO₃activated AC could be obtained by increasing the activation temperature, though an optimum point exists, above which no further gain in porosity could be obtained [45,46]. This may then be beneficial in enhancing the diffusional process of PhACs during the adsorption process. Furthermore, the particle morphology of AC could be influenced by the activation process. For example, the particle morphology has been observed to be retained more in KOH-activated AC than K₂CO₃-activated AC because the latter has been observed to be more destructive [27].

The different activation process for AC also contributes to producing different amounts of acidic and basic functional groups on the surface. For example, activation with KOH leads to a more neutral and slightly acidic surface, whereas a more acidic AC can be obtained by activation using K_2CO_3 [27]. The presence of these functional groups could usually be quantified by using the Boehm method. This method could then give both qualitative and quantitative information regarding the existing functional groups in AC.

2.2. Metal-organic frameworks

During the last two decades, there has been strong interest in the development of MOFs as a new class of adsorbent material because they can offer numerous advantages, including high surface area, high thermal stability, tailorability, and the possibility of being functionalized with various functional groups. Regarding the removal of various PhACs, the use of MOFs could actually be beneficial. Various functionalities could enhance the interaction between MOFs and PhACs, enhancing adsorption [47].

As the name indicates, MOFs are constructed from two main elements: metal cluster and organic ligand. An MOF is usually synthesized using a solvothermal method in which the metal source and organic ligand are dissolved in a solvent (mostly dimethylformamide) in an autogenous pressure reactor, followed by a reaction at an elevated temperature. The reaction can also proceed through a hydrothermal reaction when water is used as the reaction medium. The resulting product can be separated by filtrating it out from the mother solution or through centrifugation. Afterwards, the synthesized MOFs can undergo a solvent exchange process to replace the solvent that is trapped inside the pores with a more volatile solvent. Before being used, the MOF is usually activated under vacuum and slightly high temperature to free the pores from the solvents or other molecules. However, in some cases, heating the MOF at a high temperature (\sim 200 °C) is necessary when there is a ligand molecule trapped inside the pore that can only be removed through heating.

Some new methods have also been proposed to improve the conventional synthesis method. For example, MOF synthesis using an electrochemical method has been investigated to synthesize a [Zn(1,3-bdc)_{0.5}(bzim)] MOF [48]. Compared to the conventional solvothermal method, this synthesis strategy offers a faster reaction time, higher yield, and the possibility of controlling the particle size. Recent progress in this field has also shown the possibility of improving the reaction condition in order to make it more environmentally friendly. For example, the solvothermal method can be replaced with a more benign approach, such as ultrasonication [49]. Furthermore, it is possible to synthesize robust MOFs at room temperature using a more environmentally friendly solvent, such as water, and using a sodium salt as the linker source [50,51]. MOFs could also be synthesized through a mechanochemical approach in the absence or minimal amount of solvent [52,53].

Despite their numerous advantages over AC, as has already been mentioned above, most of the MOFs studied are not stable in a humid atmosphere or when exposed to water because of the weak metal-ligand coordination bonding. This may limit their applicability for PhACs removal from water systems. Therefore, the most essential requirement of applying MOF in this particular context is to carefully select or synthesize ssa water-stable MOF, which could be realized through several strategies [54]. This could be firstly done by choosing the MOFs that are built from high valence ions, such as zirconium and aluminum. These particular MOFs usually have a robust structure because they have a strong coordination bonding and thus are suitable to be applied for PhACs removal from water streams. In addition, modifying the MOFs to have hydrophobic property is another promising way to obtain a water-stable MOF because the contact between water molecules and the MOF will be greatly reduced. This strategy has been proven to improve the framework stability of the notoriously unstable MOF-5 under humid condition [55]. Lastly, a water-stable MOF could also be obtained when it is built from a rigid ligand, which has been proven in the case of UiO-67 [56]. Although UiO-67 is a



Fig. 2. Various MOF candidates for PhAC removal from water. (A) MIL-53(Al), (B) MIL-101(Cr), (C) MOF-525(Zr), (D) MOF-808(Zr), (E) UiO-66(Zr), and (F) ZIF-8 (Zn).

Zr-based MOF, its framework is not stable in a humid condition or when exposed to water, which might be caused by the rotational freedom of the biphenyl cores. Therefore, synthesizing a new ligand that is rigid and could minimize such a rotational freedom is necessary to obtain a robust and water-stable MOF. Some of the most commonly used MOF candidates are then shown in Fig. 2. These particular MOFs could also be further modified or functionalized to improve their adsorption performance towards various PhACs.

3. Factors affecting PhACs removal in AC and MOF

Before comparing the PhACs adsorption between AC and MOF. various factors that could significantly affect this performance is worth to be discussed. Such a discussion is important to give an insight regarding the existence of optimum conditions that have to be fulfilled in order to achieve an excellent performance in both adsorbents. At a glance, the surface area of an adsorbent could be hypothesized to be the greatest determinant because the higher the surface area, the greater the adsorption capacity. However, this is only true to some extent because an opposite trend has been observed in which AC or MOF with higher surface area exhibits a lower adsorption capacity [57–59]. In addition, an adsorbent with a surface area comprised mainly of ultramicropores could have a low adsorption capacity because some PhACs may not be able to diffuse through the pores to reach the adsorption sites, rendering the ultramicropores inaccessible [41]. Therefore, other factors will be further discussed below.

3.1. Pore size

As has been previously stated, the surface area of either AC or MOF barely affect the adsorption performance of both materials. However, this does not necessarily mean that the whole physical properties of both adsorbents could be fully neglected. In this respect, the size of the adsorbents' pores plays a critical role in influencing their adsorption performance. However, this situation might be different as usually encountered in a typical gas and liquid adsorption process, where the presence of ultramicropores is essential since they are considered as active sites where the adsorption process occurs. This is because the size of these compounds is considerably larger than gas molecules (Table 1).

In a study involving various AC, the highest ibuprofen adsorption capacity was obtained by AC that has the largest average pore width around 1.2 nm [60]. In contrast, the AC with narrow microporosity distribution around 0.7 nm exhibited the lowest adsorption capacity, which indicates the size exclusion of ibuprofen to access the adsorption sites in the AC. AC with larger pore size could then normally be obtained by adjusting their synthesis condition such as by adjusting the pyrolysis temperature and increasing the mass ratio of KOH (as the activating agent) and AC precursor [44,61]. In some cases, it may also be necessary to optimize the ratio of activating agent and the precursor. In the case of H₃PO₄activated AC, for example, an optimum ratio exists where further increasing the amount of H₃PO₄ during activation process leads to the destruction of the AC morphology and also its porosity [62]. The use of a mineral-rich precursor with a combination of a two-step process could also be effective to obtain AC with mesoporous structure, as illustrated in Fig. 3(A) [63]. The first step involves the chemical activation process of the precursor with ZnCl₂ to develop micropores. This is then followed by physical activation with CO₂ at 950 °C to develop mesopores, where a reaction between CO₂ and the pore framework occurs and is catalyzed by the inherent minerals in the precursor.

The importance of employing an adsorbent with sufficient pore size could render MOF a slight edge in comparison with AC because of the tailorability of MOF. Therefore, rationally selecting MOF with

Table 1

The molecular structure, pKa, and molecular dimension of selected PhACs.

Class	Compound	Molecular structure	P _{Ka}	Log K _{ow}	Molecular size (nm)	Ref
Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs)	Ibuprofen	CH3 H3C	4.91	3.97	1.03 × 0.52 × 0.43	[128,129]
	Diclofenac		4.15	4.51	$0.96 \times 0.71 \times 0.47$	[113]
	Naproxen	H ₃ C OH	4.15	3.22	1.03 × 6.07 × 4.59	[129,130]
	Ketoprofen	CH ₃ OH	4.45	3.2	$0.39\times0.61\times0.77$	[129,131]
Antibiotics	Sulfamethoxazole	H,N CH3	1.7; 5.8	0.89	$\begin{array}{c} 1.03 \times 0.59 \times 0.53 \\ 0.89 \times 0.80 \times 0.72 \end{array}$	[132,133]

(continued on next page)

Table 1 (continued)



Table 1 (continued)

Data for P_{Ka} and Log K_{ow} was obtained from PubChem (pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov) and Drugbank online (go.drugbank.com)

appropriate pore size is the simplest step to obtain a MOF with good adsorption capability. For instance, in a tetracycline removal investigation involving 3 Zr-based MOFs, MOF-525 performs better than UiO-66 [64]. This is mainly attributed by the fact that the pore size of the former (1.2, 1.6 and 1.9 nm) is larger than the later (0.7 and 1.2 nm) and thus not obstructing the diffusion of tetracycline into the MOF pores. In addition, as can be seen in Fig. 3(B), obtaining a MOF with larger pore size could also be accomplished through a defect engineering. This strategy is based on the possibility to obtain a MOF with larger pore size when its periodical atomic arrangement is obstructed. For example, defective UiO-66 [65] and MOF-801 [66] with a predominance of pore size above 1 nm could be obtained by modifying the reaction condition of their non-defective counterparts. As a result, these defective MOFs are more effective in capturing diclofenac from water streams.

3.2. Surface properties and functional groups

One of the most important properties that has to be considered for the removal of PhACs from water systems is hydrophilicity/hy drophobicity. For PhACs, this property could be estimated from the log K_{OW} (Table 1). The higher the number, the more soluble the compound in oil phase (more hydrophobic). This value can then be used as a guideline for determining the hydrophobicity or hydrophilicity of a compound. A good adsorbent-adsorbate interaction could then be expected when they have similar properties. Therefore, for example, adsorption of a hydrophobic PhAC could be improved by increasing the hydrophobic property of the adsorbent. Attention to this interaction is particularly important when the PhACs are neutrally charged and cannot establish an electrostatic interaction with the adsorbent [67].

In the case of AC, both the hydrophobic and hydrophilic functional group in AC are responsible in enhancing its adsorption capability towards organic compounds and polar species, respectively [68]. Various strategies could then be employed to engineer the functional groups of AC in order to improve the adsorption capacity towards various PhACs. The first strategy is to selectively choose the precursor of AC. AC that is derived from lignocellulose has been reported to exhibit a more developed pore structure than keratin-based AC. The former also has more oxygen functionalities and a more acidic surface than the latter, which contribute to enhancing the adsorption property of the lignocellulosic-based AC [69]. The second strategy is to select the most appropriate method during the activation or modification of AC without

Fig. 3. Strategies to develop mesoporous structure in both AC and MOF: mesoporous structure development in AC using a two-step process employing a mineral-rich precursor [63] (A) and defect engineering in MOF-801 [66] (B). All the figures are reproduced with permission from the rightsholders.

Fig. 4. Various PhAC adsorption mechanisms for AC and MOFs: ibuprofen on AC (A) [71], tetracycline on AC (B) [62], ibuprofen on UiO-66 (C) [83], and tetracycline and carbamazepine on UiO-66 (D) [94]. All the figures are reproduced with permission from the rightsholders.

destroying the integrity of its porous structure. In an investigation of H₃PO₄-activated AC, for instance, it has been observed that various functional groups such as aromatic carbon, carboxyl and hydroxyl could be generated [62]. The presence of such groups is important to establish a π - π electron donor acceptor interaction and hydrogen bonding with PhACs molecules. Some studies have also shown that surface oxidation could be employed to increase the number of carbonyl and lactonic functional groups in AC, which could improve the interaction with the aromatic rings of the PhACs through the establishment of donor–acceptor complexes, resulting in a higher adsorption capacity towards ibuprofen [70,71]. However, the oxidation process should also be carefully controlled since it could destroy the pore structure of AC because of the erosion and pore blockage by degradation products during the process [72].

Although the presence of functional groups in AC are generally beneficial for PhACs removal, not all of them contribute equally to enhance the adsorption capacity. In a study using diclofenac as the adsorbate, the phenolic in the oxidized AC had the most important role in improving the interaction between diclofenac and AC, followed by the acidic and carboxylic groups. Both the phenolic and acidic group then contribute to establishing a hydrogen bond with diclofenac [39,73]. The presence of both particular groups could then be more pronounced when the carbon is produced from an MOF [74]. Moreover, there is also a possibility where the presence of certain functional groups might negatively impact the adsorption process towards certain PhACs. In a study involving chemically-activated (K₂CO₃ and H₃PO₄) and physically-activated (steam) AC, for example, it has been observed that the abundance of oxygen functional groups, particularly the R-COOH and R-OCO, in the former than the later leads to the lower ibuprofen adsorption capacity [75,76]. This is because such groups are responsible in attracting water molecules which eventually form threedimensional clusters at the pore entrance of AC and thus blocking its access. As a consequence, the ibuprofen could not diffuse through the pores and get adsorbed.

As with AC, the presence of various functional groups in MOF is also beneficial in enhancing the interaction between the MOF and the adsorbate. Firstly, because most MOFs contain benzene or imidazole rings as their ligands, a better interaction with the PhACs and MOF framework could be expected through the establishment of a π - π interaction [77–80]. In addition, the presence of hydrophobic functional groups in MOF, such as fluorine, have also been observed to have a beneficial impact to improve the adsorption capacity of UiO-66 towards carbamazepine [81]. Another functional group that could be beneficial is basic functional groups. For example, MIL-101 with such functional groups is more efficient at adsorbing naproxen and clofibric acid than an acidic functional group because of the possibility of interacting with the -COOH group from the adsorbate [58]. A similar phenomenon was observed when investigating the positive effect of an amino group on the loading of ketoprofen in UiO-66 [82]. The interaction between the basic amine group and the carboxylic acid group of ketoprofen is beneficial in enhancing the drug adsorption capacity compared to UiO-66-NO₂. This was further proven when ketoprofen was released from the MOF, as only a partial release of ketoprofen could be achieved in UiO-66-NH₂ but both UiO-66 and UiO-66-NO₂ could achieve a complete release, indicating a strong amineketoprofen interaction. The presence of an amino group could also be beneficial when the MOF is used to remove various PhACs, such as ibuprofen [83], naproxen [83,84], tetracycline [85], and oxytetracycline [86,87], as it contributes to building a hydrogen bond between the PhACs and MOF. The hydrogen bonding between the MOF and PhAC could also be strengthened by increasing the number of hydroxyl groups. This was proven when MIL-101(Cr)-(OH)₃ and MIL-101(Cr)–OH with the most hydroxyl groups had

higher ketoprofen and naproxen adsorption capacities than the non-functionalized MIL-101(Cr) [84,88]. The presence of a hydroxy functional group is also beneficial for enhancing the adsorption of clofibric acid by MIL-101 [89]. However, there is also a possibility of weakening the metal–ligand bonding when the amino group of the ligand interacts with the PhAC. This has been demonstrated in a computational study in which UiO-66-NH₂ was used to adsorb tetracycline [90]. In this case, the hydrogen bonding between the amino group and the adsorbate weakened the metal–ligand coordination bonding, which could destroy the MOF.

Differing from AC, MOFs also have metal clusters within the structure of the framework. This metal cluster could build an interaction with PhACs during the adsorption process. First, a hydrogen bond, such as what could happen between the adsorbate and the functional group in MOFs, could be established between the hydroxvl group in the metal cluster and the PhACs. This has been reported for the adsorption of amoxicillin on MIL-53(Al) [91]. Another possible interaction is a weak metal-adsorbate interaction as observed in the adsorption of tetracycline on UiO-66 and MOF-525 [64] and a metal- π interaction as observed in the adsorption of diclofenac by functionalized UiO-66 [92]. The presence of an oxygen atom in the metal cluster could also contribute to a hydrogen bond with the PhACs because it can also act as a hydrogen acceptor [77]. However, stronger coordination bonding could also occur as observed in the XPS study after the adsorption of tetracycline hydrochloride on MIL-101(Fe), MIL-88A(Fe), and MIL-53(Fe). Such a bond could be established because of the interaction between tetracycline and the open metal sites in the MOF by replacing the water molecule that was previously coordinated with the metal cluster [93]. This phenomenon has also been proposed in the adsorption of tetracycline in UiO-66 through replacement of the carboxylic group to coordinate with Zr-O bond [94]. A similar mechanism has been proposed to explain the adsorption of diclofenac anion on Zr-based MOFs, in which the diclofenac anion could replace the terminal OH/H₂O group in the metal cluster to establish coordination bonding [95]. The metal sites could also establish hydrogen bonding with PhACs. In this case, the metal cluster usually contains an oxygen atom that may also establish a hydrogen bond with the oxygen/nitrogen functional group in PhACs [90,93].

Various mechanisms that could occur with both AC and MOFs during the removal of PhACs from water systems are presented in Fig. 4. In general, three main mechanisms could occur: hydrogen bonding, electrostatic interaction, and π - π interaction. However, the presence of a metal cluster could add another possible mechanism, namely coordination bonding between the PhAC and the metal cluster as illustrated in Fig. 4(D). This interaction may be beneficial to improving the adsorption performance towards particular PhACs, such as tetracycline. Although AC does not contain any metal cluster within its structure, this particular interaction could still possibly be established if some metal residues are present and, thus, could establish a complex interaction with the PhAC [96].

3.3. Natural organic matter

The performance of adsorbents towards various PhACs could also be highly influenced by the presence of natural organic matter (NOM). In this case, humic acid (HA) could be used as a model for studying the effect of NOM on PhAC removal. For example, the adsorption performance of AC towards ibuprofen can be reduced up to 70 % in the presence of HA [97]. Such a reduction could be associated with pore blocking, which results in the inability of ibuprofen to access the adsorptive sites. A similar result was obtained when employing AC for the removal of carbamazepine and naproxen in post-sedimentation water from a water treatment facility [98]. The declining adsorption performance also depends on the nature of the AC. During the naproxen adsorption study, the impact of NOM on the adsorption performance was greater in coalbased AC than in coconut shell-based AC. These results were confirmed by a number of studies involving various PhACs in wastewater and surface water, and the equilibrium adsorption of AC could be reduced up to 50 % [99–101]. There are two main mechanisms involved that may contribute to the declining performance of AC: adsorption competition and pore blocking. When the NOM is relatively small and more hydrophobic, there is a higher potential for it to competitively adsorb on AC rather than just blocking the pores of the AC [99]. The composition of the NOM is equally important when investigating the impact of NOM on the removal capacity of AC. In this case, the presence of fluorophore compounds is considered to impart the most negative impact on adsorption performance because they are a strong competitor for micropollutant adsorption by AC [101].

Although the presence of NOM is expected to reduce the adsorption performance of AC, a contrasting situation may also occur in which the presence of NOM does not impair the adsorption performance of AC. This has been observed in a study of ciprofloxacin removal [102]. There are several possible explanations for the phenomenon. First, the AC may have strong preferential adsorption towards the targeted molecule. Second, both the NOM and adsorbate have different adsorption sites on AC so they do not compete with each other, but a relatively high adsorbate/NOM ratio could be employed during the investigation, underestimating the competitive effect.

Despite the importance of studying the effect of NOM on the adsorption performance of adsorbents, a thorough investigation has not been carried out with MOFs. One investigation studied the impact of HA on ciprofloxacin adsorption by ZIF-8-derived carbon [103]. Unexpectedly, the adsorption of the ZIF-8-derived carbon was increased up to 5 mg L⁻¹ in the presence of HA. Afterwards, the adsorption remained stable and did not further increase when the HA concentration was increased up to 40 mg L⁻¹. This could be attributed to the formation of additional adsorption sites when the ZIF-8-derived carbon also adsorbed HA. The presence of HA allowed a hydrogen bond with ciprofloxacin, increasing the adsorption capacity.

3.4. pH

During the adsorption of PhACs, various parameters could affect the adsorption performance. One important parameter is pH, which can influence the state of both the adsorbate and the adsorbent. In the case of the former, the pH determines whether the adsorbate is protonated, neutral, or deprotonated. PhACs, such as ciprofloxacin, can also exist as zwitterionic species. Moreover, the solubility of the PhACs can also be affected by pH. For example, the solubility of diclofenac sodium is very limited in pH < 4 and, thus, the separation process that occurs below this pH can be attributed to precipitation of the diclofenac compound. Meanwhile for the latter, the pH can manipulate the surface charge of the adsorbent. In this case, pH is important to determining the isoelectric point of an adsorbent. Below this point, the adsorbent is positively charged, whereas the adsorbent is negatively charged when the pH is above its isoelectric point. Therefore, it can be safely assumed that a change in pH will influence the adsorption performance of both AC and MOFs, in particular by altering the electrostatic interaction between the adsorbents and PhACs. However, a negligible effect has been reported in the case of carbamazepine adsorption on UiO-67 [104]. This may then indicate the absence or negligible impact of electrostatic interactions during adsorption and that other interactions play a more dominant role. However, most studies have shown a non-negligible impact of pH change on the adsorption performance.

For instance, conducting the adsorption process at lower pH could beneficially impact the removal efficiency of AC towards various PhACs by altering the hydrogen bonding interaction between the adsorbates and AC. In this case, the presence of various AC functional groups, such as phenol and carboxylic groups, in protonated form is important because they are able to act as an H donor to interact with the PhACs with O or N sites to establish a hydrogen bond [105]. Therefore, negligible adsorption performance could be observed once the pH was increased because such functional groups are now in deprotonated form [105]. Similarly, a positive impact on the adsorption performance at acidic pH could also be expected when the adsorption mechanism in AC is governed by the electron donor-acceptor interaction, such as in the case of ibuprofen adsorption [70]. Differing from the electrostatic interaction that is unfavorable to be upheld in this condition due to the neutrally-charged ibuprofen, the donor-acceptor bond between the aromatic bond of ibuprofen and the carbonyl functional groups of AC could still be well-established at this pH and, thus, resulting in enhanced adsorption performance. Moreover, in a multicomponent system, an adsorbate-adsorbate interaction may also occur at acidic pH, which could aid in increasing the overall adsorption capacity of AC [106]. However, a decrease in adsorption capacity could also be observed at low pH, possibly due to a reduction in electrostatic interactions, particularly when the PhACs are positively charged [105]. In contrast, higher pH usually leads to a reduction in the efficiency of removing various PhACs [43,57,75,105,107–110]. In addition to being attributed to the deprotonated state of the various functional groups, this may also be due to the negative charge of the adsorbate and a repulsion effect being established between the adsorbate and negatively charged AC, leading to a reduction in the adsorption capacity. However, an increase in pH does not necessarily lead to a negligible adsorption capacity, as it only occurs when the electrostatic interaction is the main mechanism of adsorption. Therefore, considering the fluctuation in the adsorption performance in AC within a pH range, an optimum pH where the adsorption capacity of AC towards PhACs is the highest must sometimes be determined. This was demonstrated in a study using AC to remove amoxicillin [108,111].

A similar trend has been observed when an MOF is chosen as the adsorbent. In this case, higher pH usually leads to a reduction in the adsorption capacity of the MOF towards various PhACs [84,93,112–114]. As with AC, this performance of MOF towards PhACs could also be governed by an electrostatic interaction between the adsorbate and MOFs. At higher pH, the MOF is negatively charged and can establish a repulsion effect towards a deprotonated adsorbate. Furthermore, almost no adsorption could take place at a very high pH [112]. In this case, there are at least two plausible explanations. First, it may be caused by the adsorption process that is solely governed by electrostatic interactions between the MOF and adsorbate. The second possible explanation is degradation of the framework. Although the MOF is relatively robust at a wide range of pH, it can be degraded at a very basic pH. Therefore, the MOF structure could be partially degraded when applied at basic pH, resulting in a reduction in the adsorption capacity [31]. In contrast, at low pH, the adsorption capacity of the MOF towards various PhACs could be increased, stabilized, or decreased [91,94]. Therefore, as with AC, it is sometimes necessary to determine an optimum pH where the adsorption capacity of the MOF is maximized. This has been observed with UiO-66-NH₂, for which an optimum pH is required to establish a strong Lewis acid-base interaction between the MOF and adsorbate [59]. An optimum pH is also required to remove oxytetracycline using MIL-101(Cr)-ethylenediamine and MIL-101(Fe)-CNT because this condition will establish a strong interaction between the zwitterionic oxytetracycline and the MOF [86,115].

3.5. Temperature

A change in temperature could also affect the adsorption performance of PhACs in both AC and MOFs. Firstly, the temperature could be expected to affect the adsorption kinetics. When the operating temperature is elevated, adsorbate diffusion towards the adsorbent could be enhanced. This also means that the adsorption equilibrium could be reached faster. For example, in the diffusion of diclofenac in AC, increased temperature is accompanied by a significant decrease in the time for the adsorption to reach equilibrium [116]. Another investigation reported that a decrease in temperature could reduce the molecular diffusion of hydrophobic PhACs, inhibiting their access to the small pore region of the adsorbent [117]. Consequently, a reduction in the adsorption capacity was observed.

Regarding the maximum adsorption capacity, the trend for both AC and MOFs can increase or decrease depending on the adsorption enthalpy of each adsorbent. The increase in adsorption capacity as the temperature increases indicates an endothermic phenomenon. This can then be caused by various phenomena. For example, this may indicate the importance of chemical interactions between the adsorbate and adsorbent [57]. In this case, the increase in temperature is useful to surpass the activation energy barrier of the adsorption process [38]. In addition, there is a possibility that materials may swell as the temperature increases, creating more access for the adsorbate to reach the adsorption sites [38]. The increase in adsorption capacity may also be assisted by the formation of adsorbate agglomeration. In this regard, there is a tendency for PhACs to aggregate as the temperature increases because the reaction is endothermic, resulting in an increase in the adsorption capacity of the adsorbents [118]. This has been observed, for example, in ibuprofen [70,119,120] and various antibiotics [38,109,121,122] using AC. Such a trend has also been observed with MOFs, such as during the adsorption of ciprofloxacin on various MOFs and MOF composites [123], tetracycline on ZIF-8 [80] and UiO-66 [94], carbamazepine on UiO-66 [94], and diclofenac on amino UiO-66 [124] and MIL-100(Fe) [112]. In contrast, the decrease in adsorption capacity as the temperature increases indicates that the adsorption process is an exothermic phenomenon and, thus, desorption process could occur by increasing the operating temperature. This has been observed in the adsorption of various NSAIDs by AC, MOFs, and MOF-derived carbon materials [29,113,125,126]. This trend also occurred in a study using a composite of UiO-66/graphene nanoplate to remove carbamazepine [127]. In this scenario, the decreased adsorption capacity at high temperature may be caused by an increase of the adsorbate solubility in water at high temperature, hindering the adsorption process.

Regardless of the trend in the adsorption capacity with changing temperature, it is always expected that the free energy change during the adsorption process will be negative. This indicates that the adsorption of PhACs is a spontaneous process. The free energy can usually be evaluated by calculating the magnitude of the Gibbs energy change at different temperatures. In an exothermic adsorption process, this value could increase and even get closer to a positive value as the temperature increases [114].

4. Performance of AC and MOFs in PhACs removal

Having discussed the various factors affecting the adsorption performance, the PhACs adsorption performance comparison between AC and MOF can be carried out. It should then be firstly noted that the values reported here were taken at an optimum condition, which are sometimes cannot be met in the real situation but could still be useful as a guideline to appropriately select the potential adsorbents. Therefore, to achieve this, we consider the maximum adsorption capacity of the adsorbents as the most determining factor because it is the intrinsic adsorbent property. In most studies, this performance is usually approximated by employing Langmuir equation to obtain the maximum adsorption capacity. In addition, we also consider the Langmuir constant of the adsorbents, which highlights the indicates the affinity between the adsorbents and the adsorbates. This section will extensively discuss the adsorption performance of AC and MOFs towards various PhACs as listed in Table 1.

4.1. Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs

One of the common classes of PhACs that has been widely investigated for removal from the environment is non-steroid anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs). This is because most NSAIDs can be accessed easily as over-the-counter medications, which do not require any prescription from a medical doctor. Excessive consumption that results in unused or expired products and incomplete metabolization of the drugs inside the human body may then cause their release and accumulation in the environment. In general, there are four widely used NSAIDs: ibuprofen, diclofenac, naproxen, and ketoprofen. They have high-volume production and are present in water systems and wild animals [138].

Ibuprofen is one of the most popular NSAIDs and been investigated as a target compound to be removed from aqueous waste. In water systems, ibuprofen can be detected as a whole compound or as metabolites. The latter come from the incomplete metabolization of ibuprofen in humans and animals and could be more toxic than its parent compound [139]. Exposure to a concentration of 1 mg L⁻¹ of ibuprofen could cause various negative impacts in microorganisms, including growth inhibition and structural altercation [140]. AC can be used as an effective adsorbent to remove this particular compound from water systems. From a number of reports, the maximum ibuprofen adsorption capacity of AC usually falls within the range of 10 - 200mø g^{-1} [46,71,76,97,110,119,128,141–149]. The difference in the performance depends on various factors, such as the source of the AC and type of activation process because they can yield different surface properties of the AC. Although this capacity could be considered to be moderate, it is also possible to obtain a highperformance AC with higher ibuprofen adsorption capacity. This has been observed, for example, in an AC cloth and AC from cork waste, which had an ibuprofen adsorption capacity of 300-500 mg g^{-1} [60,75,120]. The high adsorption capacity could be attributed to the higher surface area, though this must also be compensated by the slow time to reach equilibrium (~ 10 h) because of the small pore size, which builds resistance for the pore diffusion process [120]. This problem could be addressed by producing AC that has more mesopores to aid the diffusion and adsorption of ibuprofen because the size of the ibuprofen molecule hinders its diffusion through the micropores of AC [60].

A number of MOFs and their composites have also been investigated as candidates to remove ibuprofen from waste systems. Some of them have a similar adsorption capacity as AC, in the range up to around 200 mg g⁻¹ [48,77,83,84,150–154]. However, a significant number of MOFs have a better reported ibuprofen adsorption capacity than AC, such as MOF-808 and UiO-66, which have adsorption capacities of 270 and 606 mg g⁻¹, respectively [78]. Employing MOFs with a large pore aperture is also beneficial to improving uptake. This was demonstrated, for example, when the adsorption capacity of both MIL-100 and MIL-101 were found to be 347 and 1576 mg g⁻¹ respectively [79]. The unprecedented high ibuprofen uptake of MIL-101 is attributed to its large pore aperture (12 Å) and pore volume (12,700 and 20,600 Å³). Another possibility for enhancing ibuprofen uptake is through a post-synthetic modification. Using diaminostilbenedicarboxylate as the ligand for Zr-based MOFs, the MOF could be later functionalized with oxalyl chloride and terephthaloyl chloride [155]. The ibuprofen uptake capacity was 370–455 mg g⁻¹. Another strategy is to construct a carbon material that is derived from a MOF. A carbon material derived from MIL-53(Fe) has been reported to have an ibuprofen adsorption capacity of approximately 200 mg g⁻¹ [125]. In another study using ZIF-8 as the precursor material, an ibuprofen adsorption capacity of up to 320 mg g⁻¹ was achievable when induced by the abundance of a phenolic group [151].

Diclofenac is another popular NSAID that has been widely investigated as the targeted adsorbate to be removed from the environment. Its presence in water systems at various concentrations could then have negative impacts on aquatic lives. For example, exposure of Oryzias latipes in water to a diclofenac concentration of 1 µg/L has been reported to result in cellular toxicity, genotoxicity, and estrogenic effects [156]. Both AC and MOFs have been widely investigated to remove diclofenac from water systems. In most of the studies using AC as an adsorbent, the diclofenac adsorption capacity is in the range of 50–200 mg g^{-1} or lower [29-31,34,35,37,41,57,110,116,126,157-161]. In addition, slow adsorption kinetics of AC towards diclofenac could occur because of its high microporosity [158]. To address the relatively low diclofenac adsorption capacity of AC, engineering the pore structure in AC seems to be important. For example, construction of a hierarchical pore structure in AC could be an effective strategy for improving the diclofenac adsorption capacity and kinetics [39]. In this case, parameter optimization of AC production, such as the carbonization temperature and activation method, seems to play a large role in obtaining AC with high surface area and mesoporous structure, which could have a diclofenac adsorption capacity of up to 700 mg g^{-1} [149].

In contrast, MOFs seem to be more promising for eliminating diclofenac from wastewater systems. Although the diclofenac adsorption capacity of some MOFs, such as UiO-66 [65,124,162], FeBTC [163], MOF-801 [66], MOR-2 [95], and ZIF-8 [151], is comparable or even lower with AC, the incorporation of various functional groups, such as amine and acetate, can significantly improve the adsorption capacity to 400–600 mg g^{-1} , which is more than twice the capacity of AC [112,124,164]. Functionalization of the MOF with an acidic group, such as SO₃H and acetate, has also been observed to improve the MOF adsorption capacity towards this particular compound [92,162]. This capacity could be further enhanced in the presence of metal species in the functional group, such as iron and copper [92]. In addition, defect engineering strategy has also shown to be very effective in improving the diclofenac adsorption capacity in UiO-66 [65] and MOF-801 [66]. Compared with their non-defective counterparts, the defective MOFs have exhibited more than 4 times maximum diclofenac adsorption capacity which could reach up to around 680 mg g^{-1} in the case of defective MOF-801 [66]. Despite this, high diclofenac adsorption uptake in MOF could not only be obtained in modified MOFs. Some unmodified MOFs have exhibited a higher diclofenac adsorption capacity than AC. For example, the maximum adsorption capacities of a Cu-based MOF [165], MIL-100(Fe) [130], MIL-101(Fe) [130], and MIL-53(Al) [166] have been reported to be in the range of 400–600 mg g⁻¹. Moreover, a maximum capacity of 833 mg g⁻¹ could be obtained by using zirconium-based MOF-808 [113]. Such a high capacity is attributed to the high surface area and large pore opening of MOF-808, which is highly suitable to adsorb diclofenac. For the removal of diclofenac, the use of MOF-derived carbon material could also be useful because its adsorption capacity could reach 400 mg g⁻¹, which outperforms commercial AC [151].

Naproxen is another NSAID that has been widely used; therefore, its removal from water systems has also been of increasing interest. Although its presence in the water could have various negative impacts on aquatic life, its photoderivative products could pose more dangerous effects than its parent compound [167]. To remove naproxen, most types of AC and its composites could be deployed, and they usually have an adsorption capacity of up to 200 mg g^{-1} [105,145,147,161,168–175]. However, some ACs with a combination of high surface area and mesoporous structure could exhibit higher adsorption uptake of approximately 300 mg g⁻¹ [142,176], and even up to 500 mg g^{-1} [177]. Some of the reported MOFs have also demonstrated a similar naproxen uptake of approximately 100 mg g^{-1} [84,168,178], though some unmodified MOFs, such as MIL-53(Al) [166], MIL-100(Fe) [130], and MIL-101 (Fe) [130], have also demonstrated promising naproxen uptake of approximately 300 mg g^{-1} . However, this capacity can be improved when the MOF is functionalized. For example, the naproxen adsorption capacity of various functionalized MIL-101s. such as MIL-101-ethylenediamine. MIL-101-(OH)₃, and MIL-101-OH, could reach 154, 156, and 185 mg g⁻¹, respectively, compared to only 100 mg g^{-1} with a non-functionalized MIL-101 [58,84,88]. A similar result has been achieved by constructing a composite that consists of graphene oxide and MIL-101 [170]. In this case, the naproxen adsorption capacity in the composite could be improved approximately 53 % (171 mg g⁻¹) compared to bare MIL-101. In another study, doping a metal ion in MIL-101 has the possibility of increasing the naproxen uptake capacity to approximately 396 mg g^{-1} [179]. In this case, the presence of multiple ions in the MOF may help enhance the naproxen-MOF interaction. In another strategy, a composite adsorbent could also be used as an alternative approach to improve the adsorption capacity of MOFs. This has been observed in a composite consisting of graphene oxide (GO) and MIL-101 in which the naproxen adsorption capacity could be increased 50 % compared to the pristine MIL-101 [170].

Ketoprofen is another NSAID that is widely consumed worldwide. The use of this particular NSAID is popular when pain, such as that caused by rheumatoid arthritis and osteoarthritis, cannot be mitigated with the other common NSAIDs discussed above [180]. The presence of this particular compound in the water could have various negative impacts, such as growth inhibition of Cvprinus carpio embryos [181] and induction of metabolic toxicity in Gyps coprotheres [182]. Therefore, various studies have investigated removing ketoprofen from water systems. In this case, AC still usually has an adsorption capacity $< 100 \text{ mg g}^{-1}$ [42,119,131,183–186], though it is also possible to increase this capacity up to 300 mg g^{-1} [187]. Using MIL-101(Cr) with a varying degree of hydroxyl functional groups, a higher adsorption capacity towards ketoprofen can be obtained by increasing the hydroxyl group in the MOF. However, the adsorption capacity only reaches up to 100 mg g^{-1} and is not very competitive against AC [88]. Synthesizing a MOF composite could be a strategy for improving the adsorption performance, as observed in the use of MIL-101(Cr)/ chitosan composite, which has a maximum adsorption capacity of approximately 157 mg g^{-1} [153]. Although MOF may not outperform AC for this particular purpose, the employment of Zrbased MOFs could be beneficial. In this regard, Zr-based MOFs, such as UiO-66 and MOF-808, have shown a maximum adsorption capacity within the range of 300–600 mg g^{-1} [188].

The adsorption performance of both AC and MOFs towards various NSAIDs is summarized in Fig. 5. As can be seen from Fig. 5(A), the maximum adsorption capacity of MOFs that have been studied for NSAID removal peaks at 251–500 mg g⁻¹. This is in contrast to the performance of AC, which peaks with a maximum adsorption capacity in the range of 101–250 mg g⁻¹, and up to 80 % of studies have shown that the maximum adsorption capacity of AC is only up to 250 mg g⁻¹. Moreover, some MOFs could even exhibit an adsorption capacity greater than 500 mg g⁻¹. For example, MOF-808 has a maximum adsorption capacity of 833 mg g⁻¹ towards

Fig. 5. Comparison of the adsorption performance of AC and MOFs for the removal of various NSAIDs based on maximum adsorption capacity (A) and the isotherm slope at low concentration (B).

diclofenac [113]. In addition, various functionalized UiO-66 frameworks have demonstrated an excellent adsorption capacity of up to 770 mg g⁻¹ towards the same compound [92].

Notably, most of the studies on NSAID removal have been conducted at a relatively high pollutant concentration. This is in contrast to the concentration of PhACs in the environment usually being very low. Consequently, the maximum adsorption capacity may not reflect the real adsorbent performance. Therefore, another performance comparison must be conducted in which the maximum adsorption capacity is not the sole determining factor. As has been stated in the beginning of this section, the use of Langmuir constant to obtain the Langmuir isotherm slope at very low concentration could be used to approach the adsorbent performance where the pollutant concentration is very low. This number contains the K_l value, indicating the affinity between the adsorbent and adsorbate. Therefore, in an ideal scenario, the maximum adsorption capacity is expected to be accompanied by a high K_l value and result in an adsorbent with high adsorption capacity and affinity.

The result of the above analysis of NSAID removal is shown in Fig. 5(B). As can be clearly seen, the majority of both AC and MOF adsorbents peak at a slope value between 11 and 100 L g⁻¹. A slope of 100 L g⁻¹ would mean that, in the case of a feed concentration of 1 mg L⁻¹, the adsorbent could reach a loading of 100 mg g⁻¹. This could indicate that some of the MOFs that have higher adsorption capacities are impaired by relatively low affinity. A contrasting situation could occur with AC, in which a low adsorption capacity is combined with high affinity. However, the second largest group of MOFs have values in the range of 101-500 L g⁻¹. This is in contrast to AC, in which the second largest group have

the lowest position, namely 0–10 L g⁻¹. This may indicate the superiority of some MOFs over AC for the removal of NSAIDs. Within this category, some MOFs, such as MOF-808 [113], Cudoped-MIL-101(Fe) [179], and both functionalized and non-functionalized MIL-101(Cr) [58], could be good candidates that combine good adsorption capacity and adsorbent-adsorbate affinity. In addition to the large pore aperture and high surface area, the better adsorption performance of MOF than AC towards various NSAIDs could also be aided by the presence of carboxylic group in the investigated NSAIDs. Such a carboxylic group could then establish a coordination bonding with the exposed metal sites of the MOFs to significantly increase the adsorbent-adsorbate affinity and thus resulting in the higher adsorption capacity [189].

4.2. Antibiotics

Another class of PhACs that has been largely investigated for removal from water systems is antibiotics. Antibiotics were first introduced in 1930 as organic compounds used to eliminate pathogenic bacteria [190]. As in the case of NSAIDs, the presence of such compounds in water systems is highly concerning and poses a high risk to the aquatic environment [191,192]. In addition to the water ecosystem, there is also a concern that the presence of antibiotics may have negative impacts on the soil ecosystem, though clear evidence for such a concern is not yet established [193]. In addition to these risks, one of the greatest environmental concerns caused by antibiotic contamination is the rapid development of resistance in microbial communities because of unintentional and massive exposure to mass-produced antibiotics [193]. For example, municipal water treatment has been reported to be an important source of antibiotic resistance genes, which could have potential to pollute the surrounding surface water [194]. Therefore, removal from the environment is essential.

Sulfamethoxazole is one example of a sulfonamide antibiotic that has been widely used for both animals and humans. Because of its frequent usage, its potential to contaminate the surrounding environment cannot be neglected [195]. As a targeted adsorbate to be removed from the environment, the adsorption capacity of AC may vary from 50 to 200 mg g⁻¹ [32,107,196–199]. However, the maximum adsorption capacity of various types of AC estimated by Langmuir equilibrium could reach 400 mg g⁻¹ or greater [67,106,200–202]. Some types of AC exhibit a linear adsorption equilibrium in which more sulfamethoxazole is adsorbed as its concentration increases, which may indicate the involvement of a chemical reaction and interaction, not just limited to monolayer physical adsorption [32,201].

An investigation of the removal of sulfamethoxazole has also been conducted involving various MOFs, such as Cu-BTC [114], MIL-53 (Fe) [198], MIL-101 [114], NU-1000 [114], UiO-66 [114], UiO-66-NH₂ [114], UiO-67 [203], and ZIF-8 [114]. Most of the MOFs, including Cu-BTC, MIL-53(Fe), UiO-66, and ZIF-8, cannot really compete with the capability of AC because their adsorption capacity is $< 50 \text{ mg g}^{-1}$. However, there are some promising MOFs with adsorption capacities of approximately 200 mg g⁻¹ because they have large pore windows (e.g., NU-1000 and MIL-101(Cr) [114,204]). In addition, the sulfamethoxazole adsorption process occurs very fast in MIL-101(Cr), with only 3 min required to reach equilibrium. To outperform AC, porphyrin-based MOFs MOF-525 and MOF-545 have been studied for this purpose [114]. The sulfamethoxazole adsorption capacity of both MOFs could reach 585 and 690 mg g^{-1} , respectively, which is significantly higher than that of their counterparts. In addition, a study was conducted by employing MOF-based nanoporous carbons. Various MOFs, such as MOF-5 [205] and ZIF-8 [74,206], have been investigated as starting materials to synthesize porous carbon for sulfamethoxazole removal. Compared to the normal AC and MOF used as the starting

material, the adsorption capacity of this material is higher and in the range of $300-700 \text{ mg g}^{-1}$ [74,205,206].

In addition to sulfamethoxazole, trimethoprim is another example of an antibiotic that has been widely used in the medical, veterinary, and aquaculture fields because of its cheap price and broad anti-bacterial spectrum [207]. As a consequence of its broad usage, it also has the potential to contaminate the environment. Therefore, its removal from water systems is one of the main recent research topics. Based on a number of studies on the use of AC as an adsorbent to remove trimethoprim, the reported adsorption capacity of AC could be as low as $50-100 \text{ mg g}^{-1}$ [198,208–210]. However, this capacity could be improved so AC has a maximum adsorption capacity in the range of 200–300 mg g^{-1} [69,211,212], and even up to 500 mg g^{-1} when a microporous AC is used because of the suitability of the trimethoprim molecule to fill the micropores [212]. In contrast to AC, only a few studies have investigated the use of MOFs to remove trimethoprim. MIL-53(Fe) [198] and Zr-bio-MOF [213] have been investigated as potential adsorbents to remove trimethoprim, but their adsorption cannot outperform AC.

Penicillin is another class of antibiotic that has been investigated for removal from the environment. One example compound is amoxicillin. The adsorption capacity of AC to remove this compound has been observed to be in the range of 50-200 mg g^{-1} , which shows the importance of not just the physical properties, but also the chemical properties of AC [36,108,111,118,121,128,214-216]. However, the maximum adsorption capacity of AC could be improved up to 500 mg g^{-1} when chemically activated, such as by using KOH, NaOH, or NH₄Cl, or through suitable physical activation that assists in increasing the porosity of the AC [111,217-220]. The use of MOFs has been reported to remove amoxicillin from water system, though this is not as widely investigated as adsorption using AC. From these investigations, we conclude that some MOFs, such as MIL-101 [221], MIL-101-NH₂ [221], MOF-235 [221], MOF-235-NH₂ [221], UiO-66 [59], and Zn-MOF [222], are still not competitive enough to outperform AC because their adsorption capacity is comparable or below the capacity of AC. Differing from the rest, MIL-53(Al) could be a promising option because it has been reported to have an amoxicillin adsorption capacity of up to 759 mg g^{-1} [91].

Ciprofloxacin is another type of antibiotic that has been investigated for removal from water systems. This particular compound is a fluoroquinolone antibiotic that has been widely used to treat diseases that occur in both humans and animals. The presence of this particular compound could result in a number of negative impacts. For example, the presence of ciprofloxacin could decrease the nutrient removal capability in wetlands and alter its microbial community, increasing the presence of anti-resistance genes [223]. Addressing this issue, various ACs and their composites have been investigated for removing this particular compound from water systems. In these studies, the ciprofloxacin adsorption capacity of AC has been in the range of 200-400 mg g⁻ [102,122,224–233] with the possibility of a maximum uptake of 600 mg g^{-1} [234]. Despite this quite good performance, some types of AC still suffer from low adsorption uptake of $< 100 \text{ mg g}^{-1}$ [26,235–239] and exhibited a slow kinetic response because more than 24 h are required for the adsorbent to reach equilibrium [224.234].

A number of MOFs have also been investigated for the removal of ciprofloxacin. However, some proposed MOFs, such as Cuglutamate, Cr-fumarate, and UiO-66, do not exhibit satisfactory performance because their adsorption capacities are $\leq 100 \text{ mg g}^{-1}$ and, thus, not competitive to outperform AC [178,240–242]. Some MOFs, such as MIL-100(Fe) and MOF-235 (Fe), have exhibited a more promising performance with adsorption capacities in the range of 200–300 mg g⁻¹ [123]. A study

involving various MOFs from the ZIF family and UiO-66 indicated the superiority of ZIF-67-SO₄ [243]. This may indicate the importance of functional groups in MOFs to remove ciprofloxacin. The ciprofloxacin adsorption capacity of MOFs could also be increased by synthesizing them as a composite because the other constituent material may provide additional adsorptive sites. This has been proven by synthesizing Fe₃O₄@MIL-100(Fe) and Fe₃O₄@MOF-235 (Fe) [123]. In addition, the possibility of employing carbon-based material synthesized from MOF calcination has been studied. In this case, the MOF sources could be varied, such as HKUST-1 [244,245], MIL-53(Fe) [246], and ZIF-8 [103]. The ciprofloxacin adsorption capacity of this particular material has been reported to be significantly increased, reaching up to 400–800 mg g⁻¹ [245,246].

Another widely used antibiotic class is tetracyclines. Tetracycline is one of the most common antibiotics in the world because a high-quality and high-purity product can be industrially produced at low cost [247]. Tetracycline can be used in both humans and animals and is very effective for treating infections caused by various bacteria. However, this particular compound is difficult to metabolize and can be directly excreted. There is growing concern regarding the long-term exposure of microorganisms to this compound, despite the difficulty reaching an acute toxicity level [248]. For example, the presence of 2–5 mg L⁻¹ tetracycline could disturb the efficiency of nitrogen removal in biological wastewater treatment [249]. Therefore, its presence in the water system may be significant and its removal necessary. Some studies have used AC from various sources and found that the adsorption capacity of AC and its various composites is within the range of 200-500 mg g⁻¹ [33,44,62,109,122,250–256], though the performances of some types of AC are below this value [257–260]. This capacity of AC could even be increased to more than 700 mg g^{-1} when its mesoporous structure is well-developed [61]. In addition, such an excellent performance could also be obtained due to the presence of metal residues in the adsorption system. Such an increase in adsorption capacity has been observed in the presence of copper ion in the solution [72], the presence of metal in the AC [96], or when it was produced as a magnetic AC composite [261] or in the presence of iron salt as dopant [262]. In this case, the presence of metal could help establish a chelate-coordination between the AC and tetracycline to improve its adsorption capacity [96].

Various MOFs, such as UiO-66 [64], UiO-66-(COOH)₂/GO composite [263], UiO-66-(OH)₂/GO composite [264], trimetallic MOF-74 [265], UiO-66 [90,94], UiO-66-NH₂ [90], and YCM-101 [266], have been found to have adsorption capacities $\leq 100 \text{ mg g}^{-1}$. This adsorption capacity may not be superior to AC, mainly due to the unsuitability of the pore opening of the MOF for tetracycline to penetrate [90,267]. This has been proven by modifying the synthesis conditions for the MOF. One approach is by embedding another metal during synthesis of the MOF. The addition of Mn metal in the synthesis of UiO-66 has been reported to increase its pore size and surface area, which could be caused by the presence of defects. This then results in improved tetracycline adsorption of Mn-doped UiO-66 up to 184 mg g^{-1} [268]. In another study, a structure directing agent of poly(diallyldimethylammonium chloride) was used to obtain a hierarchically porous ZIF-8 with a larger pore opening. As a result, the tetracycline adsorption capacity could reach 977 mg g^{-1} , which was attributed to multilayer adsorption [269]. Another study using a mesoporous MOF-818 also demonstrated a relatively high tetracycline uptake capacity of 442 mg g^{-1} combined with fast kinetics [270]. This has also been proven with the use of MOFs that have high surface areas and pore openings, such as NU-1000 and MOF-525, which have exhibited significantly higher tetracycline adsorption capacities than their UiO-66 counterpart, which could reach up to 600 mg g^{-1} [64]. In addition, the use of other promising MOFs and MOF-based composites, such as Fe/Co bimetallic MOF [271], MIL-101(Cr) composite [272], MIL-53(Fe) [273], MIL-53(Fe)–NH₂ [85], multi-walled carbon nanotube/ MIL-53(Fe) composite [273], multi-walled carbon nanotube/MIL-53(Fe)–NH₂ composite [85], ZIF-8 [80], ZIF-8/MIL-53(Al)–NH₂ composite [274], and various Fe-based MOFs (MIL-88A, MIL-101, and MIL-53) [93] have exhibited promising performance because their tetracycline adsorption capacities fall into the range of 300-500 mg g^{-1} , which is highly competitive with the tetracycline adsorption exhibited by most types of AC. Furthermore, carbon material derived from various MOFs could be chosen because this strategy could increase the adsorbent surface area and pore volume, which could ease the penetration of tetracycline into the adsorbent. Although adsorbents with non-exceptional adsorption capacities could still be obtained [275,276], this strategy would produce adsorbents in which the tetracycline capacity falls in the range of 200–500 mg g^{-1} when there is a combination of a welldeveloped mesoporous structure and functionality in the MOFderived porous carbons [277-279].

Oxytetracycline is another popular antibiotic. The presence of this particular compound in the soil could lead to bioaccumulation in Enchytraues crypticus, alter the composition of its gut microbiota, and increase the number of anti-resistance genes despite the absence of negative impacts on its growth and reproduction [280]. It has also been a target PhAC for removal from the environment. A number of studies using AC as an adsorbent have found that the adsorption capacity of AC for this particular compound could reach 300-600 mg g⁻¹ [38,199,281,282], though some of them have also reported a capacity of approximately 100 mg g^{-1} [283]. One investigation reported an adsorption capacity of greater than 1300 mg g^{-1} , which may be attributed to the large micropore area [284]. Some MOFs, such as Co-ZIF-67 [285] and MIL-101(Cr) [86], have then been used to adsorb the compound, though their performance is still not satisfactory. However, the use of amino-functionalized MOFs, such as MIL-101(Cr)ethylenediamine [86] and MIL-88B(Fe)-NH₂ [87], have been shown to be able to significantly increase the adsorption capacity for oxytetracycline compared to their non-functionalized counterparts. In addition, a MOF composite, such as Fe₂O₄@ZIF-8 [286]. MIL-53 composite [273], and MIL-101(Fe)-CNT composite [115], and other promising non-functionalized MOFs, such as ZIF-8 [80], could also become a good option to remove oxytetracycline considering their relatively high adsorption capacities of approximately 300 mg g^{-1} .

A summary of the adsorption performance of both AC and MOFs towards various antibiotics is shown in Fig. 6. As can be seen from Fig. 6(*A*), both adsorbents peak at a maximum adsorption capacity of 251–500 mg g⁻¹. However, 24 % of MOFs studied for the removal of antibiotics have had a maximum adsorption capacity > 500 mg g⁻¹, compared to 12 % of studies on AC. MOFs with large pore apertures and surface areas, such as MOF-818 [270], MOF-545 [114], and MOF-525 [114], belong to this particular group. Notably, a high maximum adsorption capacity is also exhibited by carbon materials derived from various MOFs. This indicates the benefit of having a more structured pore before obtaining a carbon material to improve the adsorption capacity towards antibiotics.

However, further analysis of the adsorption performance (Fig. 6 (**B**)) indicates that MOFs and their carbon derivatives may not actually be too beneficial in comparison to AC when they are to be applied in a real situation. Although both adsorbents peak at slope values between 11 and 100 L g⁻¹, the frequency of slope values in the range of $101-1000 \text{ L g}^{-1}$ is greater with AC than MOFs. This is in contrast to the previous performance for the removal of NSAIDs, for which MOFs might outperform AC. Moreover, despite their relatively high adsorption capacity, the affinity of various MOFs towards various antibiotics may be low and, thus, impair

Fig. 6. Comparison of the adsorption performance of AC and MOFs for the removal of various antibiotics based on maximum adsorption capacity (A) and the isotherm slope at low concentration (B).

their performance when applied to very low concentrations. This could be caused by the absence of carboxylic group in most of the investigated antibiotics molecules and thus reducing the affinity between the MOF and the PhACs. However, it is also possible to have a MOF with relatively low adsorption capacity but high adsorbate-adsorbent affinity, such as UiO-66 [64]. Therefore, this particular MOF could be useful for antibiotic removal. However, the results suggest that AC may perform better than most of the studied MOFs for the removal of antibiotics from water systems.

4.3. Others PhACs

Both NSAIDs and antibiotics are drug classes that have been widely investigated for removal from water systems by both AC and MOFs. There have also been some investigations of other classes of PhACs that are not widely investigated, particularly with MOFs, but worth mentioning.

4.3.1. Anticonvulsants

Carbamazepine is one popular example of an anticonvulsant drug used to treat epilepsy. This particular compound is one of the most frequently encountered pharmaceuticals in aquatic systems and has been well-known for inducing oxidative stress in marine bivalves [287]. The adsorption capacity of most types of AC and its composites is usually $\leq 100 \text{ mg g}^{-1}$ [104,161,288–292]. However, some studies have reported the possibility of obtaining an adsorption capacity in the range of 200–300 mg g⁻¹ for AC [45,293–299], which could be associated with the presence of a mesoporous structure of AC and increased surface area and pore volume to give carbamazepine better access to the adsorption

sites in AC. The removal of this compound from water systems has then been widely investigated using both AC and MOFs, including a composite of UiO-66/graphene nanoplate [127], UiO-66 [94,127], UiO-66-NH₂ [81], and UiO-66-F [81], which have a moderate adsorption capacity of \leq 100 mg g⁻¹. A study using UiO-67 has reported that the isotherm exhibits a linear increase [104]. Therefore, a higher amount of carbamazepine can be adsorbed by UiO-67 as the concentration in the water increases.

4.3.2. Anticholesterolemic drugs

Anticholesterolemic drugs are used to lower plasma cholesterol levels. One common example of these drugs is clofibric acid and its derivative clofibrate. The presence of this compound has been reported in water systems, and a number of investigations have investigated removing it from the environment. AC from various sources have demonstrated an adsorption capacity of approximately 100 mg g^{-1} [300] or lower [301,302]. Other studies have demonstrated an adsorption capacity of AC in the range of 200-300 mg g^{-1} [28,137]. However, this capacity could only be reached with AC in which the pores were not dominated by supermicropores, despite the assumption that these pores are often associated with the strongest adsorption sites, indicating the importance of suitable pore size to accommodate clofibric acid [137]. Another study reported that the maximum adsorption capacity towards this particular compound could reach 500 mg g^{-1} [303]. In this case, the contribution from multilayer adsorption indicated by the adsorption isotherm cannot be neglected. MOFs have also been used to remove this particular compound from water systems. MIL-101 has been reported to have an adsorption capacity of approximately 300 mg g^{-1} [58,89,168]. This adsorption capacity can be slightly enhanced when a hydroxyl or amine functional group is present, which may be attributed to the acid-base interaction. In contrast, a significant decrease in the adsorption capacity of MIL-101 has been observed in the presence of an acidic group [58].

4.3.3. Beta-blockers

An example of a beta-blocker is atenolol, which is mostly used to treat high blood pressure and heart-associated chest pain. The removal of this particular compound from water has been widely investigated by employing AC. The adsorption capacity of AC towards atenolol is usually < 100 mg g^{-1} [76,160,304–306]. This performance can be improved through several modification processes, such as oxidation [105]. However, some studies have shown that the atenolol adsorption capacity of AC could be improved to > 500 mg g^{-1} when a suitable chemical activation method is used [27]. Although MOFs are not yet as widely studied as AC, a recent study demonstrated the potential of MIL-163 and a defective Ni₈BDP₆ MOF to outperform AC in removing atenolol from the waste system [304]. The atenolol adsorption capacity of MIL-163 is estimated to reach 92.2 mg g^{-1} . This is then attributed to the proper channel dimensions of MIL-163 (1.2 \times 1.2 nm) to let atenolol pass through the pore and get adsorbed. The framework stability of MIL-163 helps prevent ligand leaching and maintain adsorption performance. Another study was carried out using an adsorbent column employing defective Ni₈BDP₆. With an initial atenolol concentration of 73 mg L⁻¹, the column could maintain the adsorption performance up to 12 days without any sign of MOF degradation.

The performance of both AC and MOFs towards adsorbing these various PhACs is presented in Fig. 7. As can be seen in Fig. 7(*A*), the studies conducted with these PhACs were considerably smaller than the studies conducted for the other classes of PhACs. From the studies conducted thus far, the maximum adsorption capacity of AC falls within the range of 51–250 mg g⁻¹, whereas two peaks appear in the studies using MOFs as the adsorbent. In this case, the maximum adsorption capacity falling within 1–50 mg g⁻¹ can be

Fig. 7. Comparison of the adsorption performance of AC and MOFs for the removal of other PhACs based on maximum adsorption capacity (A) and the isotherm slope at low concentration (B).

assigned to various studies of MOFs for carbamazepine removal, and a relatively high adsorption capacity in the range of 251– 500 mg g⁻¹ is exhibited by UiO-67 [104] and MIL-101(Cr) [58,89] for the removal of carbamazepine and clofibric acid, respectively. However, the relatively high adsorption capacity of some MOFs towards these compounds is not accompanied by high affinity. As shown in Fig. 7(*B*), approximately 90 % of MOFs exhibit a very low Langmuir isotherm slope (0–10 L g⁻¹). This may indicate that the affinity of these MOFs towards these particular PhACs is relatively weak and could impair their performance when applied in a real-world situation. Moreover, this suggests that they are not yet able to outperform AC.

5. Outlook and future studies

Having extensively compared the adsorption performance between MOF and AC towards various PhACs, further suggestions and theme for further studies will also be provided here to obtain a more comprehensive view to compare the adsorption performance between AC and MOFs, which are summarized in Table 2.

5.1. Investigation in real and more complex environments

Although recent investigations have clearly shown the efficacy of both AC and MOFs in removing PhACs from waste systems, some issues and challenges still remain to be addressed in future research. The first issue is related to the performance of the adsorbents in real conditions. Until now, most of the studies in this field have been performed in controlled environments. Such conditions will not be met in real-world applications in which both adsorbents are going to be used. The adsorption performance of AC in

Table 2

Other factors and subjects for future studies to compare the adsorption performance of AC and MOFs for PhAC removal.

Factor	Activated carbon	Metal-organic frameworks
Real performance	A number of studies have been performed in real wastewater to obtain the real performance.	More studies are required to observe the real adsorption performance of MOFs in a more complex system rather than a single system. In particular, more investigations are required to study the effect of NOM on PhAC adsorption.
Adsorbent regeneration	More studies are required on the use of green solvents for AC regeneration.	More studies are required on the use of green solvents to regenerate MOFs. In addition, thermal regeneration is worthwhile for some robust MOFs to avoid the use of solvents.
Adsorbent separation	Granular AC could be directly used as an adsorbent in a column, avoiding the need for subsequent separation steps. However, whenever possible, the use of a binder to form a pellet should be avoided to minimize declining performance of the AC for adsorption.	MOFs are mostly produced as nanoparticles, rendering the separation process from water systems difficult. Therefore, to increase applicability, the performance as an adsorbent must be further investigated in other formats, such as structured adsorbent or membrane adsorber.
Adsorbent stability	AC has excellent framework stability. However, the integrity of the composite adsorbent must be evaluated.	The framework is more labile than AC. The framework stability must be thoroughly evaluated during the adsorption performance.
Economic viability	The economic viability of AC has been well proven, in particular regarding its production in large-scale.	The scale-up production for MOFs could be challenging, in particular for a specialized MOF that is designed with non- commercial ligand. Therefore, several aspects must be fully considered to make MOF production more competitive with AC.
Sustainability	There is an advantage in the use of various types of agricultural wastes and naturally-grown carbon waste.	Further investigations must be performed on the sustainably of producing MOFs for PhAC removal. More emphasis could be placed on evaluating the metal and ligand source for building the MOF.
Fundamental studies	Elucidation on the adsorption sites of AC	Elucidation on the adsorption sites of MOF

real wastewater could be significantly decreased from its performance in a controlled environment [294], suggesting the importance of studying the performance of the adsorbent in a real condition. In this case, various types of AC have been used to study the adsorption of various PhACs from real wastewater [108,121,196,200,288,289,294,297,298]. When such an investigation is not possible, a simulated condition that mimics the condition of a real waste system may be necessary to evaluate the true performance of the adsorbents. This has been studied, for example, by using a simulated effluent of various wastewaters to mimic the real conditions [29,216,219,307]. As the adsorption performance of a few numbers of MOFs looks promising and could outperform AC in certain cases, it is important to also study the performance of MOFs in this real environment. However, MOFs have not been as widely studied in real environments as AC [267,304]. Therefore, more investigations are needed in this field, especially in the use of promising MOFs.

Another possibility is to study the adsorption in a multicomponent environment. Although such an investigation is not as ideal as exposing the adsorbent in a simulated effluent or real wastewater, it is beneficial for investigating various phenomena that may occur because of the presence of other components in the system. At first glance, the adsorption capacity of both AC and MOFs may be expected to decrease because of the competitive adsorption phenomenon. This has been demonstrated with Fe₃O₄-FeBTC MOF for three NSAIDs: diclofenac, naproxen, and ibuprofen [163]. During multicomponent adsorption, the removal efficiency of ibuprofen, diclofenac, and naproxen could only be maintained at 11 %, 61 %, and 85 %, respectively, compared to the single system, which is attributed to the competitive adsorption between the compounds and shows the selectivity towards naproxen. This has also been observed using AC in a bicomponent system containing ciprofloxacin and carbamazepine. Compared to the single system, the adsorption capacity of AC was significantly reduced up to 80 % because of the competitive adsorption [298].

However, competitive adsorption is not the only phenomenon to consider, as indicated by a study using AC in the presence of caffeine and diclofenac [157,308]. A possibility of the displacement of caffeine by diclofenac was suggested because of the lower affinity

of the former for AC [157]. In addition, there is a possibility that a higher adsorption capacity is present in the multicomponent system compared to the single system. This has been demonstrated for carbamazepine adsorption by UiO-66 in the presence of tetracycline [94]. A possible explanation is the establishment of an adsorbate-adsorbate interaction that results in a more favorable adsorption condition and increased adsorption capacity [308]. The presence of Pb(II) in a water system has been reported to be beneficial for increasing the oxytetracycline adsorption capacity of $Fe_3O_4@ZIF-8$ through the complexation reaction that occurs between both adsorbates [286]. A similar observation was reported when the presence of copper ion increased the adsorption capacity of AC towards tetracycline because of the complex formation between the adsorbate and AC [72]. In a study of clofibric acid adsorption the presence of calcium ions in the water system was beneficial for forming a complex adsorbate that could also enhance the adsorption on AC [300]. In another study, the presence of nickel ion was beneficial for improving the ciprofloxacin adsorption capacity of AC [225]. Thus, it is useful to be more selective in choosing the adsorbent to improve the actual performance.

In addition to investigations in a more complex environment, more studies need to be conducted in a more relevant concentration of PhACs than is usually found in real conditions. As stated previously, the concentration of PhACs in water systems is mostly in the range of nanogram or microgram per liter. This is in contrast to most of the investigations using AC and MOFs in which the PhAC concentration is usually set at ppm. Therefore, it is important to avoid overestimating adsorption performance, which may occur if the decision is based solely on the data obtained in the relatively high concentration range [98]. For example, one study on the capacity of AC towards carbamazepine and naproxen was performed by adjusting the concentration of both components in the range of 10–800 ng/L [98].

5.2. Adsorbent separation and regeneration

Another challenge that has to be addressed is the process of separating the adsorbents from the waste system. Although this issue applies to both AC and MOFs, it may be more applicable for the latter than the former because most MOFs are mostly deployed as nanoadsorbents and could render its separation from the water a little bit more challenging. Some strategies have been proposed to address the issue, including the introduction of a magnetic property in both AC and MOFs [71,109,164,184]. This strategy could be very helpful in avoiding the release of nanoparticle adsorbents into the environment by easing the separation from the waste system when the adsorption process has finished [309]. However, embedding magnetic particles also poses a risk in reducing the surface area of the adsorbent, which could potentially result in reduced adsorption capacity.

Another strategy that could be used to address the separation process is the fabrication of a structured adsorbent. For AC, this has been done by adding a binder when structuring the AC. However, a disadvantage of this approach is a reduction in the number of effective adsorption sites, compromising the adsorption performance. This has also been investigated in various MOFs [113,310] by growing the MOF and immobilizing it on the surface of a substrate. This makes the adsorbent easier to handle and the separation of nanoparticles from the waste system can be avoided. Another possibility is to investigate the feasibility of fabricating an adsorptive membrane. In this case, the adsorbent can be incorporated inside a polymer matrix or stand alone on a porous support, which could also address the challenges related to separating the adsorbent from the water system after it is exhausted. However, it is probably more feasible to apply this strategy to MOF rather than AC because it is easier to engineer the particle size of the MOF and fabricate it as a continuous film. This strategy has been observed by using ZIF-8 membrane adsorbent, which can be used to adsorb various PhACs, such as acetylsalicylate acid, ibuprofen, and ketoprofen [311].

Regeneration is another issue that has to be addressed when an adsorbent is selected for PhAC removal. There are at least two issues regarding adsorbent regeneration. First, a reduction in the adsorption capacity is unavoidable. A decline in the adsorbent adsorption capacity often occurs once the adsorbent is regenerated, and a reduction of up to 50 % of the adsorption capacity can actually be expected [252]. Therefore, a study on the limitations of the adsorbent capability to remove contaminants must also be conducted. The second issue is related to the way the adsorbent is regenerated. Most of the adsorbents investigated for this purpose can usually be easily regenerated using solvent to regain the adsorption capacity after it becomes saturated. This then poses two other challenges. First, the right solvent must be carefully selected as a regenerant that depends upon the adsorbate. For example, strongly adsorbed molecules, such as tetracycline on UiO-66, could not be easily desorbed using chloroform, resulting in the impossibility of reusing the adsorbent [94]. Water could then be selected as the first option for regeneration. However, adjustments for the operating conditions (e.g., temperature or pH) are necessary to effectively desorb the PhACs from the adsorbents. Some alcohols could be chosen as promising alternatives, but the capability to desorb PhACs must be evaluated carefully. For example, regenerating AC with methanol is slightly more effective in sustaining the micropollutant removal capability than regenerating AC with ethanol [184]. In addition to the selection of an effective regenerant, there is another issue related to regenerant sustainability and the avoidance of harmful solvents. In this case, it is worth investigating a number of possible environmentally friendly regenerants.

Several studies have been performed to find various alternative possibilities for regeneration. For example, a combination of desorption methods using gamma irradiation to desorb PhACs from AC has been reported [202]. However, optimization of this technique is still required because the desorption capability is still relatively low. Another method uses persulfate in the regenerant medium and ultrasonication [204]. In this strategy, the persulfate acts as an oxidizing agent to degrade the PhAC that is desorbed from the AC by the assistance of ultrasonication. This method could bring back the adsorption capacity of the adsorbent. Another strategy is to employ light to trigger the desorption process. This has been investigated using a composite adsorbent of UiO-66-NH₂/ Ag_3PO_4 [312]. Upon irradiation of the adsorbent with visible light, the Ag⁺ ion is reduced to Ag⁰, which can then no longer act as an adsorptive site, triggering the desorption process.

It is also possible to regenerate the adsorbent in the absence of solvent by employing thermal regeneration. In this process, the use of organic and harmful solvents can be avoided and the adsorbents regenerated by exposing them to a high temperature condition in which the adsorbates are thermally degraded. This method may be suitable for AC and has been proven in a number of studies [71,196], but it is a challenge when a MOF is chosen as the adsorbent because the organic part of the MOF can degrade during the thermal regeneration process, partially destroying the framework, which can render the MOF useless for the next adsorption cycles. Therefore, the use of this method is limited and only MOFs with high thermal stability are able to be thermally regenerated. In this respect, a study employing a MIL-53(Al) Raschig Ring (RR) adsorbent has successfully shown the possibility to thermallyregenerate the MOF after the adsorbent was saturated with ibuprofen [154]. Because the MIL-53(Al) RR could retain its structure up to around 500 °C, the ibuprofen adsorbed in the MIL-53(Al) RR could be thermally degraded by heating the adsorbent at 330 °C. The thermally-regenerated MIL-53(Al) RR could then be reused with only a slight compromise observed in its adsorption capacity.

5.3. Adsorbent stability and integrity

In addition to investigations of adsorbent regeneration, it is also important to assess the material stability and integrity. In this regard, AC may outperform MOFs because the latter contain organic linkers that could reduce the robustness of the framework. This has been shown by the instability of numerous MOFs in various conditions, particularly once they are exposed to water or humid environments [313]. The metal–ligand bonding may also be prone to structural deterioration after several cycles of adsorption–desorption. Therefore, MOFs that are going to be applied for PhAC removal in water systems have to be more judiciously selected not only regarding their performance, but also an intact structure after a number of adsorption cycles.

Material integrity should also be carefully considered. This issue is particularly important when AC or MOF composites are used for PhAC removal, especially when the composite merely relies on the physical bonding between constituents without the presence of any covalent bonding. For example, the structural integrity of an AC composite could be compromised even after just one cycle of regeneration based on the change in X-ray Diffraction (XRD) pattern [314]. This indicates the importance of continuously evaluating not just the adsorption performance after regeneration, but also the material integrity, which then acts as a driving force to produce a composite that has stronger bonding between its components.

5.4. Economic viability and sustainability

Another important parameter that has to be considered in future investigations is the economic viability and sustainable production of both AC and MOFs. Both issues are essential because, eventually, the adsorbents will have to be industrially produced in a sustainable way in order to avoid further contamination of the water systems. In this regard, AC may have a significant edge over MOFs because AC was already well developed before the birth of MOFs. Therefore, its large-scale production and hence its economic viability is currently not an issue. In addition, AC can also be produced using various types of agricultural wastes or naturally grown carbon sources and thus offering a more sustainable approach than MOFs. In this case, the main drawback probably lies in the use of high temperature during the production process that requires a large amount of energy. However, this could be simply addressed by adjusting the pyrolysis temperature of AC and the utilization of renewable energies.

In contrast, MOF may be slightly behind of AC in both aspects. Although some MOFs have been successfully produced at large scale, such as proven by BASF [315], it must be admitted that the economic viability of MOF production is still not as well-proven as AC, in particular in the production of a specific MOF that is specially designed to remove certain PhACs. Therefore, more studies are required to assess the possibility of scaling up the production of the targeted MOF that should also go hand in hand with the sustainability assessment. Several aspects then need to be considered so the MOF production could be competitive with AC. Firstly, the use commercially-available material that could be synthesized in large scale is much preferred than a specialized ones. Moreover, in respect to the metal source, the use of metal acetate, hydroxide, oxide, or sulfate should be preferred and could also be an additional consideration because they are less harmful to the environment [316]. As in the production of AC, the use of waste as raw material could also be a promising option to increase the economic viability and sustainability MOF production. This has been observed, for example, by employing PET as a raw material to synthesize various MOFs, such as UiO-66 [317] and MIL-53(Al) composite [318]. In this case, the PET acts as the source of terephthalate ligand to construct the MOF. The resulting MOF could be further used to produce a carbon-based adsorbent that contains metal species that could be beneficial for removing diclofenac from water systems [318]. In another investigation, polylactic acid plastic cups could also be used as a ligand source to construct a chiral MOF [319]. Lastly, the minimization of energy input during MOF production should always be prioritized. This particular point could actually be the main advantage of MOFs over AC because of the possibility of synthesizing MOFs in a very benign condition (e.g., room temperature) with minimum energy input, such as through sonochemical or mechanochemical methods. Recently, such a possibility has been proven by large-scale production of MOF CALF-20 that combines the utilization of commercially available starting materials, relatively benign synthesis condition (i.e. using water/methanol as solvent), high product yield up to 90 % and high space-time-yield around 550 kg m⁻³ day⁻¹ [320]. Although this MOF is specially designed to capture CO₂, it has undoubtedly shown the economic viability of MOF as a promising adsorbent to target low-value adsorbate, which could then be potentially translated in the case of MOF for PhACs removal from water streams.

5.5. Investigation regarding the adsorption sites both in AC and MOFs

Last but not least, further studies could also be directed to investigate the fundamental aspect during the adsorption process, namely to gain more insight regarding the adsorption sites of AC and MOFs. For example. until now, it is often assumed that the adsorption process in AC and MOFs occur both inside the pore and on the outer surface of the adsorbents since both of them are rarely differentiated. It could be then more insightful when the occurrence of both phenomena could be separated and more elucidated. In this case, various analytical techniques could be used. For example, it has been documented that the use of confocal microscopy is possible to determine whether an adsorbate is adsorbed on the surface or inside the pore of MOFs [321]. Another possibility is to construct the adsorbent as a film to study then employing the quartz crystal microbalance (QCM) to investigate the real mass increase during adsorption process [322]. After the equilibrium condition is reached, the value could be compared with the expected value of mass increase in the case of full pore occupation. However, this technique might only be suitable to be applied for MOF since the material could be readily produced as a thin film on the QCM.

6. Conclusion

During the last few years, there has been increasing concern regarding the presence of PhACs in water systems. Although they are present at relatively low concentrations, their accumulation poses a threat to aquatic life. Therefore, their removal from water systems is essential to preserving the water ecosystem. Among the available strategies that can be used to remove them, adsorption could be considered as the most feasible because of its numerous advantages. Until now, AC has been commonly used as the main adsorbent to accomplish removal. With the increasing interest in MOFs during the last two decades, the adsorption performance towards various PhACs has also been widely studied.

This article has empirically and comprehensively reviewed the performance of both adsorbents to remove various PhACs from water systems. From the compilation of the results, we infer that the adsorption performance of MOFs is slightly better than that of AC in some areas. This is particularly obvious when the MOF is applied to remove various NSAIDs. This could be the case because the pore size of MOFs is tailorable and, thus, the MOF could also be rationally selected to perform a particular separation process. However, there are some cases in which the adsorption performance of AC is comparable or even better than that of MOF, such as shown in the performance towards removing antibiotics or other PhACs. In most cases, this happens when the molecular size of the targeted PhAC is relatively small and can be easily accommodated by AC. For example, AC has shown relatively good performance in removing carbamazepine, as indicated by its better adsorption capacity than various MOFs. This is also the case when the mesoporous structure in AC can be well developed and, therefore, does not hinder the diffusional process of the PhACs. In addition to AC and MOFs, there is another class of porous carbon-based adsorbent that is derived from MOFs. This particular adsorbent could actually offer a good alternative between AC and MOF. Most of them usually exhibit better adsorption performance than AC, partly because their porosity is more developed and they are derived from MOFs, which have a structured framework.

However, further studies are required to clearly assess which adsorbents are the best for PhAC removal. Although some MOFs could outperform AC in removing various PhACs, such as NSAIDs, it does not necessarily mean that the former is the best option for this particular purpose. In this case, further assessments are required to obtain a complete perspective. For example, even though a particular MOF shows better performance in adsorbing certain PhACs, its major challenge is related to its economical aspect because its production is still limited to lab scale. This is in contrast to AC, whose economical aspect of its production has been proven and could also be readily produced from various types of biomass waste and thus avoiding further pollution of the environment. Furthermore, this is also exacerbated by the fact that MOF is not as robust as AC and thus could limit its applicability for the adsorption process in water treatment. Therefore, from the current practical perspective, AC could still be much more attractive than MOF as an adsorbent. On the other hand, it does not mean that AC cannot be replaced by MOFs in the future. This is particularly because of the possibility of synthesizing various

N. Prasetya, I. Gede Wenten, M. Franzreb et al.

MOFs in a benign way in contrast to AC, which has to be produced at high temperature. In addition, recent investigations have shown the possibility of producing MOF at large scale using commerciallyavailable materials or using various types of industrial waste, which could also improve the sustainability aspect of the MOFs. When these aspects are fulfilled, there is a great opportunity for MOFs to be applied in the removal of PhACs from water systems. Moreover, there is great potential in developing MOF-derived carbon-based material. Recent studies employing this material has shown promising performance that combines the high adsorption capacity, kinetics, and material robustness.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Acknowledgments

N.P. acknowledges the funding from Alexander von Humboldt Stiftung through the Alexander von Humboldt Postdoctoral Research Fellowship (Ref 3.3 - GBR - 1219268 - HFST-P).

References

- [1] C. Di Marcantonio, A. Chiavola, S. Dossi, G. Cecchini, S. Leoni, A. Frugis, M. Spizzirri, M.R. Boni, Occurrence, seasonal variations and removal of Organic Micropollutants in 76 Wastewater Treatment Plants, Process Saf. Environ. Prot. 141 (2020) 61–72.
- [2] T. Nawaz, S. Sengupta, Contaminants of emerging concern: occurrence, fate, and remediation, in: Adv. Water Purif. Tech., Elsevier, 2019, pp. 67–114.
- [3] J.L. Wilkinson, A.B. Boxall, D.W. Kolpin, K.M. Leung, R.W. Lai, C. Galbán-Malagón, A.D. Adell, J. Mondon, M. Metian, R.A. Marchant, Pharmaceutical pollution of the world's rivers, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 119 (2022) e2113947119.
- [4] J. Ferrer, R. Barra, O. Herrera, M. Montory, Pharmaceutical residues in the pristine Antarctic ecosystem, in: Pharm. Mar. Coast. Environ., Elsevier, 2021, pp. 379–401.
- [5] S. Chopra, D. Kumar, Pharmaceuticals and personal care products (PPCPs) as emerging environmental pollutants: toxicity and risk assessment, in: Adv. Anim. Biotechnol. Its Appl., Springer, 2018, pp. 337–353.
- [6] E. Tyumina, G. Bazhutin, A.d.P. Cartagena Gómez, I. Ivshina, Nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs as emerging contaminants, Microbiology 89 (2020) 148– 163.
- [7] E.S. Rigobello, A.D.B. Dantas, L. Di Bernardo, E.M. Vieira, Removal of diclofenac by conventional drinking water treatment processes and granular activated carbon filtration, Chemosphere 92 (2013) 184–191.
- [8] J. Rivera-Utrilla, M. Sánchez-Polo, M.Á. Ferro-García, G. Prados-Joya, R. Ocampo-Pérez, Pharmaceuticals as emerging contaminants and their removal from water. A review, Chemosphere. 93 (2013) 1268–1287.
- [9] B. Feier, A. Florea, C. Cristea, R. Săndulescu, Electrochemical detection and removal of pharmaceuticals in waste waters, Curr. Opin. Electrochem. 11 (2018) 1–11.
- [10] A.L. Boreen, W.A. Arnold, K. McNeill, Photodegradation of pharmaceuticals in the aquatic environment: a review, Aquat. Sci. 65 (2003) 320–341.
- [11] T.A. Ternes, J. Stüber, N. Herrmann, D. McDowell, A. Ried, M. Kampmann, B. Teiser, Ozonation: a tool for removal of pharmaceuticals, contrast media and musk fragrances from wastewater?, Water Res 37 (2003) 1976–1982.
- [12] K.M. Onesios, J.T. Yu, E.J. Bouwer, Biodegradation and removal of pharmaceuticals and personal care products in treatment systems: a review, Biodegradation 20 (2009) 441–466.
- [13] J. Akhtar, N.A.S. Amin, K. Shahzad, A review on removal of pharmaceuticals from water by adsorption, Desalination Water Treat. 57 (2016) 12842–12860.

- [14] A. Khan, J. Wang, J. Li, X. Wang, Z. Chen, A. Alsaedi, T. Hayat, Y. Chen, X. Wang, The role of graphene oxide and graphene oxide-based nanomaterials in the removal of pharmaceuticals from aqueous media: a review, Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 24 (2017) 7938–7958.
- [15] J.A.S. Costa, R.A. de Jesus, D.O. Santos, J.F. Mano, L.P. Romao, C.M. Paranhos, Recent progresses in the adsorption of organic, inorganic, and gas compounds by MCM-41-based mesoporous materials, Microporous Mesoporous Mater. 291 (2020) 109698.
- [16] J. Wang, S. Zhuang, Covalent organic frameworks (COFs) for environmental applications, Coord. Chem. Rev. 400 (2019) 213046.
- [17] L. Joseph, B.-M. Jun, M. Jang, C.M. Park, J.C. Muñoz-Senmache, A.J. Hernández-Maldonado, A. Heyden, M. Yu, Y. Yoon, Removal of contaminants of emerging concern by metal-organic framework nanoadsorbents: A review, Chem. Eng. J. 369 (2019) 928–946.
- [18] N.C. Burtch, H. Jasuja, K.S. Walton, Water stability and adsorption in metalorganic frameworks, Chem. Rev. 114 (2014) 10575–10612.
- [19] Z. Jeirani, C.H. Niu, J. Soltan, Adsorption of emerging pollutants on activated carbon, Rev. Chem. Eng. 33 (2017) 491–522.
- [20] J. Ouyang, L. Zhou, Z. Liu, J.Y. Heng, W. Chen, Biomass-derived activated carbons for the removal of pharmaceutical mircopollutants from wastewater: A review, Sep. Purif. Technol. 253 (2020) 117536.
- [21] S. Wong, N. Ngadi, I.M. Inuwa, O. Hassan, Recent advances in applications of activated carbon from biowaste for wastewater treatment: a short review, J. Clean. Prod. 175 (2018) 361–375.
- [22] S. Rojas, P. Horcajada, Metal-organic frameworks for the removal of emerging organic contaminants in water, Chem. Rev. 120 (2020) 8378–8415.
- [23] S. Dhaka, R. Kumar, A. Deep, M.B. Kurade, S.-W. Ji, B.-H. Jeon, Metal-organic frameworks (MOFs) for the removal of emerging contaminants from aquatic environments, Coord. Chem. Rev. 380 (2019) 330–352.
- [24] A.O. Ibrahim, K.A. Adegoke, R.O. Adegoke, Y.A. AbdulWahab, V.B. Oyelami, M. O. Adesina, Adsorptive removal of different pollutants using metal-organic framework adsorbents, J. Mol. Liq. 333 (2021) 115593.
- [25] L. Huang, R. Shen, Q. Shuai, Adsorptive removal of pharmaceuticals from water using metal-organic frameworks: A review, J. Environ. Manage. 277 (2021) 111389.
- [26] D. Balarak, M. Baniasadi, S.-M. Lee, M.J. Shim, Ciprofloxacin adsorption onto Azolla filiculoides activated carbon from aqueous solutions, Desal. Water Treat. 218 (2021) 444–453.
- [27] S.C. Marques, A.S. Mestre, M. Machuqueiro, A.Ž. Gotvajn, M. Marinšek, A.P. Carvalho, Apple tree branches derived activated carbons for the removal of βblocker atenolol, Chem. Eng. J. 345 (2018) 669–678.
- [28] R.A. Reza, M. Ahmaruzzaman, A.K. Sil, V.K. Gupta, Comparative adsorption behavior of ibuprofen and clofibric acid onto microwave assisted activated bamboo waste, Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 53 (2014) 9331–9339.
- [29] C. Saucier, M.A. Adebayo, E.C. Lima, R. Cataluña, P.S. Thue, L.D. Prola, M. Puchana-Rosero, F.M. Machado, F.A. Pavan, G. Dotto, Microwave-assisted activated carbon from cocoa shell as adsorbent for removal of sodium diclofenac and nimesulide from aqueous effluents, J. Hazard. Mater. 289 (2015) 18–27.
- [30] N. Genç, E. Durna, E. Erkişi, Optimization of the adsorption of diclofenac by activated carbon and the acidic regeneration of spent activated carbon, Water Sci. Technol. 83 (2021) 396–408.
- [31] M.M.A. Daouda, A.V.O. Akowanou, S.R. Mahunon, C.K. Adjinda, M.P. Aina, P. Drogui, Optimal removal of diclofenac and amoxicillin by activated carbon prepared from coconut shell through response surface methodology, South Afr. J Chem. Eng. 38 (2021) 78–89.
 [32] M.C. Tonucci, L.V.A. Gurgel, S.F. de Aquino, Activated carbons from
- [32] M.C. Tonucci, L.V.A. Gurgel, S.F. de Aquino, Activated carbons from agricultural byproducts (pine tree and coconut shell), coal, and carbon nanotubes as adsorbents for removal of sulfamethoxazole from spiked aqueous solutions: kinetic and thermodynamic studies, Ind. Crops Prod. 74 (2015) 111–121.
- [33] G. Tan, Y. Mao, H. Wang, N. Xu, A comparative study of arsenic (V), tetracycline and nitrate ions adsorption onto magnetic biochars and activated carbon, Chem. Eng. Res. Des. 159 (2020) 582–591.
- [34] S. Larous, A.-H. Meniai, Adsorption of Diclofenac from aqueous solution using activated carbon prepared from olive stones, Int. J. Hydrog. Energy. 41 (2016) 10380–10390.
- [35] D. Cherik, K. Louhab, A kinetics, isotherms, and thermodynamic study of diclofenac adsorption using activated carbon prepared from olive stones, J. Dispers. Sci. Technol. 39 (2018) 814–825.
- [36] L. Limousy, I. Ghouma, A. Ouederni, M. Jeguirim, Amoxicillin removal from aqueous solution using activated carbon prepared by chemical activation of olive stone, Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 24 (2017) 9993–10004.
- [37] M. Malhotra, S. Suresh, A. Garg, Tea waste derived activated carbon for the adsorption of sodium diclofenac from wastewater: adsorbent characteristics, adsorption isotherms, kinetics, and thermodynamics, Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 25 (2018) 32210–32220.
- [38] Y. Kan, Q. Yue, D. Li, Y. Wu, B. Gao, Preparation and characterization of activated carbons from waste tea by H3PO4 activation in different atmospheres for oxytetracycline removal, J. Taiwan Inst. Chem. Eng. 71 (2017) 494–500.
- [39] A.O.A. El Naga, M. El Saied, S.A. Shaban, F.Y. El Kady, Fast removal of diclofenac sodium from aqueous solution using sugar cane bagasse-derived activated carbon, J. Mol. Liq. 285 (2019) 9–19.

- [40] J. Schultz, G. Capobianco, P.A. da Silva Veiga, M.R. Fornari, A.R. Antonangelo, S.M. Tebcherani, A.S. Mangrich, S.A. Pianaro, Sustainable activated carbon obtained as a by-product of the sugar and alcohol industry for removal of amoxicillin from aqueous solution, Energy Ecol. Environ. 5 (2020) 433–443.
- [41] M. Bernardo, S. Rodrigues, N. Lapa, I. Matos, F. Lemos, M. Batista, A. Carvalho, I. Fonseca, High efficacy on diclofenac removal by activated carbon produced from potato peel waste, Int. J. Environ. Sci. Technol. 13 (2016) 1989–2000.
- [42] N.F. Silva, M.S. Netto, L.F. Silva, E.S. Mallmann, E.C. Lima, V. Ferrari, G.L. Dotto, Composite carbon materials from winery composted waste for the treatment of effluents contaminated with ketoprofen and 2-nitrophenol, J. Environ. Chem. Eng. 9 (2021) 105421.
- [43] A.F. Streit, G.C. Collazzo, S.P. Druzian, R.S. Verdi, E.L. Foletto, L.F. Oliveira, G.L. Dotto, Adsorption of ibuprofen, ketoprofen, and paracetamol onto activated carbon prepared from effluent treatment plant sludge of the beverage industry, Chemosphere 262 (2021) 128322.
- [44] J. Wang, S. Lei, L. Liang, Preparation of porous activated carbon from semicoke by high temperature activation with KOH for the high-efficiency adsorption of aqueous tetracycline, Appl. Surf. Sci. 530 (2020) 147187.
- [45] D. Chen, S. Xie, C. Chen, H. Quan, L. Hua, X. Luo, L. Guo, Activated biochar derived from pomelo peel as a high-capacity sorbent for removal of carbamazepine from aqueous solution, RSC Adv. 7 (2017) 54969–54979.
- [46] A.S. Mestre, A.S. Bexiga, M. Proença, M. Andrade, M.L. Pinto, I. Matos, I.M. Fonseca, A.P. Carvalho, Activated carbons from sisal waste by chemical activation with K2CO3: kinetics of paracetamol and ibuprofen removal from aqueous solution, Bioresour. Technol. 102 (2011) 8253–8260.
- [47] Z. Hasan, S.H. Jhung, Removal of hazardous organics from water using metalorganic frameworks (MOFs): plausible mechanisms for selective adsorptions, J. Hazard. Mater. 283 (2015) 329–339.
- [48] O.J. de Lima Neto, A.C. de Oliveira Frós, B.S. Barros, A.F. de Farias Monteiro, J. Kulesza, Rapid and efficient electrochemical synthesis of a zinc-based nano-MOF for Ibuprofen adsorption, New J. Chem. 43 (2019) 5518–5524.
- [49] C. Vaitsis, G. Sourkouni, C. Argirusis, Metal Organic Frameworks (MOFs) and ultrasound: A review, Ultrason. Sonochem. 52 (2019) 106–119, https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ultsonch.2018.11.004.
- [50] M. Sánchez-Sánchez, N. Getachew, K. Díaz, M. Díaz-García, Y. Chebude, I. Díaz, Synthesis of metal-organic frameworks in water at room temperature: salts as linker sources, Green Chem. 17 (2015) 1500–1509.
- [51] I. Pakamoré, J. Rousseau, C. Rousseau, E. Monflier, P.Á. Szilágyi, An ambienttemperature aqueous synthesis of zirconium-based metal-organic frameworks, Green Chem. 20 (2018) 5292–5298.
- [52] A. Pichon, A. Lazuen-Garay, S.L. James, Solvent-free synthesis of a microporous metal–organic framework, CrystEngComm 8 (2006) 211–214.
- [53] B. Karadeniz, A.J. Howarth, T. Stolar, T. Islamoglu, I. Dejanovic, M. Tireli, M.C. Wasson, S.-Y. Moon, O.K. Farha, T. Friscic, Benign by design: green and scalable synthesis of zirconium UiO-metal-organic frameworks by water-assisted mechanochemistry, ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng. 6 (2018) 15841–15849.
- [54] X. Zhang, B. Wang, A. Alsalme, S. Xiang, Z. Zhang, B. Chen, Design and applications of water-stable metal-organic frameworks: Status and challenges, Coord. Chem. Rev. 423 (2020) 213507.
- [55] J. Yang, A. Grzech, F.M. Mulder, T.J. Dingemans, Methyl modified MOF-5: a water stable hydrogen storage material, Chem. Commun. 47 (2011) 5244– 5246.
- [56] X.-L. Lv, S. Yuan, L.-H. Xie, H.F. Darke, Y. Chen, T. He, C. Dong, B. Wang, Y.-Z. Zhang, J.-R. Li, H.-C. Zhou, Ligand rigidification for enhancing the stability of metal-organic frameworks, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 141 (2019) 10283–10293, https://doi.org/10.1021/jacs.9b02947.
- [57] J. Lach, A. Szymonik, Adsorption of diclofenac sodium from aqueous solutions on commercial activated carbons, Desalination Water Treat. 186 (2020) 418– 429.
- [58] Z. Hasan, E.-J. Choi, S.H. Jhung, Adsorption of naproxen and clofibric acid over a metal-organic framework MIL-101 functionalized with acidic and basic groups, Chem. Eng. J. 219 (2013) 537–544.
- [59] L. Liu, W. Cui, C. Lu, A. Zain, W. Zhang, G. Shen, S. Hu, X. Qian, Analyzing the adsorptive behavior of Amoxicillin on four Zr-MOFs nanoparticles: Functional groups dependence of adsorption performance and mechanisms, J. Environ. Manage. 268 (2020) 110630.
- [60] A.S. Mestre, J. Pires, J.M. Nogueira, J.B. Parra, A.P. Carvalho, C.O. Ania, Wastederived activated carbons for removal of ibuprofen from solution: role of surface chemistry and pore structure, Bioresour. Technol. 100 (2009) 1720– 1726.
- [61] D. Zhang, J. Yin, J. Zhao, H. Zhu, C. Wang, Adsorption and removal of tetracycline from water by petroleum coke-derived highly porous activated carbon, J. Environ. Chem. Eng. 3 (2015) 1504–1512.
- [62] Q. Yang, P. Wu, J. Liu, S. Rehman, Z. Ahmed, B. Ruan, N. Zhu, Batch interaction of emerging tetracycline contaminant with novel phosphoric acid activated corn straw porous carbon: Adsorption rate and nature of mechanism, Environ. Res. 181 (2020), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2019.108899 108899.
- [63] L. Li, F. Sun, J. Gao, L. Wang, X. Pi, G. Zhao, Broadening the pore size of coalbased activated carbon via a washing-free chem-physical activation method for high-capacity dye adsorption, RSC Adv. 8 (2018) 14488–14499.
- [64] J. Xia, Y. Gao, G. Yu, Tetracycline removal from aqueous solution using zirconium-based metal-organic frameworks (Zr-MOFs) with different pore size and topology: Adsorption isotherm, kinetic and mechanism studies, J. Colloid Interface Sci. 590 (2021) 495–505.

- [65] S. Zhuang, J. Wang, Adsorptive removal of pharmaceutical pollutants by defective metal organic framework UiO-66: Insight into the contribution of defects, Chemosphere 281 (2021) 130997.
- [66] N. Prasetya, K. Li, Synthesis of defective MOF-801 via an environmentally benign approach for diclofenac removal from water streams, Sep. Purif. Technol. (2022), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seppur.2022.122024 122024.
- [67] Y. Shi, G. Liu, L. Wang, H. Zhang, Activated carbons derived from hydrothermal impregnation of sucrose with phosphoric acid: remarkable adsorbents for sulfamethoxazole removal, RSC Adv. 9 (2019) 17841–17851.
- [68] M.A. Khan, B. Hameed, J. Lawler, M. Kumar, B.H. Jeon, Developments in activated functionalized carbons and their applications in water decontamination: a review, Desalination, Water Treat. 54 (2015) 422–449.
- [69] Z. Guo, L. Xu, C. Liu, F. Sun, Y. Kang, S. Liang, Comparison of physicochemical properties of activated carbons derived from biomass wastes by H4P207 activation: adsorption of trimethoprim, Desalination Water Treat. 57 (2016) 21957–21967.
- [70] H. Guedidi, L. Reinert, J.-M. Lévêque, Y. Soneda, N. Bellakhal, L. Duclaux, The effects of the surface oxidation of activated carbon, the solution pH and the temperature on adsorption of ibuprofen, Carbon 54 (2013) 432–443.
- [71] K.T. Wong, Y. Yoon, M. Jang, Enhanced recyclable magnetized palm shell waste-based powdered activated carbon for the removal of ibuprofen: Insights for kinetics and mechanisms, PLoS ONE 10 (2015) e0141013.
- [72] Q. Qin, X. Wu, L. Chen, Z. Jiang, Y. Xu, Simultaneous removal of tetracycline and Cu (II) by adsorption and coadsorption using oxidized activated carbon, RSC Adv. 8 (2018) 1744–1752.
- [73] B.N. Bhadra, P.W. Seo, S.H. Jhung, Adsorption of diclofenac sodium from water using oxidized activated carbon, Chem. Eng. J. 301 (2016) 27–34.
- [74] I. Ahmed, B.N. Bhadra, H.J. Lee, S.H. Jhung, Metal-organic framework-derived carbons: preparation from ZIF-8 and application in the adsorptive removal of sulfamethoxazole from water, Catal. Today 301 (2018) 90–97.
- [75] A. Mestre, J. Pires, J. Nogueira, A. Carvalho, Activated carbons for the adsorption of ibuprofen, Carbon 45 (2007) 1979–1988.
- [76] L.F. Delgado, P. Charles, K. Glucina, C. Morlay, Adsorption of ibuprofen and atenolol at trace concentration on activated carbon, Sep. Sci. Technol. 50 (2015) 1487–1496.
- [77] B.-M. Jun, J. Heo, C.M. Park, Y. Yoon, Comprehensive evaluation of the removal mechanism of carbamazepine and ibuprofen by metal organic framework, Chemosphere 235 (2019) 527-537.
- [78] S. Lin, Y. Zhao, Y.-S. Yun, Highly effective removal of nonsteroidal antiinflammatory pharmaceuticals from water by Zr (IV)-based metal-organic framework: adsorption performance and mechanisms, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 10 (2018) 28076–28085.
- [79] P. Horcajada, C. Serre, M. Vallet-Regí, M. Sebban, F. Taulelle, G. Férey, Metalorganic frameworks as efficient materials for drug delivery, Angew. Chem. 118 (2006) 6120–6124.
- [80] N. Li, L. Zhou, X. Jin, G. Owens, Z. Chen, Simultaneous removal of tetracycline and oxytetracycline antibiotics from wastewater using a ZIF-8 metal organicframework, J. Hazard. Mater. 366 (2019) 563–572.
- [81] N. Yuan, X.-R. Gong, B.-H. Han, Hydrophobic fluorous metal-organic framework nanoadsorbent for removal of hazardous wastes from water, ACS Appl. Nano Mater. 4 (2021) 1576–1585.
- [82] Z. Li, S. Zhao, H. Wang, Y. Peng, Z. Tan, B. Tang, Functional groups influence and mechanism research of UiO-66-type metal-organic frameworks for ketoprofen delivery, Colloids Surf. B Biointerfaces. 178 (2019) 1–7.
- [83] W. Sun, H. Li, H. Li, S. Li, X. Cao, Adsorption mechanisms of ibuprofen and naproxen to UiO-66 and UiO-66-NH2: Batch experiment and DFT calculation, Chem. Eng. J. 360 (2019) 645–653.
- [84] P.W. Seo, B.N. Bhadra, I. Ahmed, N.A. Khan, S.H. Jhung, Adsorptive removal of pharmaceuticals and personal care products from water with functionalized metal-organic frameworks: remarkable adsorbents with hydrogen-bonding abilities, Sci. Rep. 6 (2016) 1–11.
- [85] W. Xiong, Z. Zeng, X. Li, G. Zeng, R. Xiao, Z. Yang, Y. Zhou, C. Zhang, M. Cheng, L. Hu, Multi-walled carbon nanotube/amino-functionalized MIL-53 (Fe) composites: remarkable adsorptive removal of antibiotics from aqueous solutions, Chemosphere 210 (2018) 1061–1069.
- [86] T. Hu, Q. Jia, S. He, S. Shan, H. Su, Y. Zhi, L. He, Novel functionalized metalorganic framework MIL-101 adsorbent for capturing oxytetracycline, J. Alloy. Compd. 727 (2017) 114–122.
- [87] T. Van Tran, V.H. Nguyen, L.X. Nong, H.-T.-T. Nguyen, D.T.C. Nguyen, T.T. Nguyen, H.T.T. Nguyen, T.D. Nguyen, Hexagonal Fe-based MIL-88B nanocrystals with NH2 functional groups accelerating oxytetracycline capture via hydrogen bonding, Surf. Interfaces 20 (2020) 100605.
- [88] J.Y. Song, S.H. Jhung, Adsorption of pharmaceuticals and personal care products over metal-organic frameworks functionalized with hydroxyl groups: quantitative analyses of H-bonding in adsorption, Chem. Eng. J. 322 (2017) 366–374.
- [89] N. Fathma, Y.-K. Jeong, Activities of metal-organic frameworks for the adsorption of clofibric acid from water, Int. J. Plant Anim. Environ. Sci. 9 (2019) 63–73.
- [90] H.-G. Kim, K. Choi, K. Lee, S. Lee, K.-W. Jung, J.-W. Choi, Controlling the structural robustness of zirconium-based metal organic frameworks for efficient adsorption on tetracycline antibiotics, Water 13 (2021) 1869.
- [91] J. Imanipoor, M. Mohammadi, M. Dinari, M.R. Ehsani, Adsorption and desorption of amoxicillin antibiotic from water matrices using an effective and recyclable MIL-53 (Al) metal-organic framework adsorbent, J. Chem. Eng. Data 66 (2020) 389–403.

- [92] H.A. Younes, M. Taha, R. Mahmoud, H.M. Mahmoud, R.M. Abdelhameed, High adsorption of sodium diclofenac on post-synthetic modified zirconium-based metal-organic frameworks: Experimental and theoretical studies, J. Colloid Interface Sci. 607 (2022) 334–346.
- [93] Z. Zhang, Y. Chen, Z. Wang, C. Hu, D. Ma, W. Chen, T. Ao, Effective and structure-controlled adsorption of tetracycline hydrochloride from aqueous solution by using Fe-based metal-organic frameworks, Appl. Surf. Sci. 542 (2021) 148662.
- [94] C. Chen, D. Chen, S. Xie, H. Quan, X. Luo, L. Guo, Adsorption behaviors of organic micropollutants on zirconium metal-organic framework UiO-66: analysis of surface interactions, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 9 (2017) 41043– 41054.
- [95] A.D. Pournara, E.K. Andreou, G.S. Armatas, M.J. Manos, Zirconium (IV) metal organic frameworks with highly selective sorption for diclofenac under batch and continuous flow conditions, Crystals 12 (2022) 424.
- [96] R. Ocampo-Pérez, J. Rivera-Utrilla, C. Gómez-Pacheco, M. Sánchez-Polo, J. López-Peñalver, Kinetic study of tetracycline adsorption on sludge-derived adsorbents in aqueous phase, Chem. Eng. J. 213 (2012) 88–96.
- [97] S. Behera, S. Oh, H. Park, Sorptive removal of ibuprofen from water using selected soil minerals and activated carbon, Int. J. Environ. Sci. Technol. 9 (2012) 85–94.
- [98] Z. Yu, S. Peldszus, P.M. Huck, Adsorption characteristics of selected pharmaceuticals and an endocrine disrupting compound–Naproxen, carbamazepine and nonylphenol–on activated carbon, Water Res. 42 (2008) 2873–2882.
- [99] D. De Ridder, A. Verliefde, S. Heijman, J. Verberk, L. Rietveld, L. Van Der Aa, G. Amy, J. Van Dijk, Influence of natural organic matter on equilibrium adsorption of neutral and charged pharmaceuticals onto activated carbon, Water Sci. Technol. 63 (2011) 416–423.
- [100] S.A. Snyder, S. Adham, A.M. Redding, F.S. Cannon, J. DeCarolis, J. Oppenheimer, E.C. Wert, Y. Yoon, Role of membranes and activated carbon in the removal of endocrine disruptors and pharmaceuticals, Desalination 202 (2007) 156–181.
- [101] R. Mailler, J. Gasperi, Y. Coquet, C. Derome, A. Buleté, E. Vulliet, A. Bressy, G. Varrault, G. Chebbo, V. Rocher, Removal of emerging micropollutants from wastewater by activated carbon adsorption: Experimental study of different activated carbons and factors influencing the adsorption of micropollutants in wastewater, J. Environ. Chem. Eng. 4 (2016) 1102–1109.
 [102] X. Zhu, D.C. Tsang, F. Chen, S. Li, X. Yang, Ciprofloxacin adsorption on
- [102] X. Zhu, D.C. Tsang, F. Chen, S. Li, X. Yang, Ciprofloxacin adsorption on graphene and granular activated carbon: kinetics, isotherms, and effects of solution chemistry, Environ. Technol. 36 (2015) 3094–3102.
- [103] S. Li, X. Zhang, Y. Huang, Zeolitic imidazolate framework-8 derived nanoporous carbon as an effective and recyclable adsorbent for removal of ciprofloxacin antibiotics from water, J. Hazard. Mater. 321 (2017) 711–719.
- [104] I. Akpinar, A.O. Yazaydin, Rapid and efficient removal of carbamazepine from water by UiO-67, Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 56 (2017) 15122–15130.
- [105] J.Y. Song, B.N. Bhadra, S.H. Jhung, Contribution of H-bond in adsorptive removal of pharmaceutical and personal care products from water using oxidized activated carbon, Microporous Mesoporous Mater. 243 (2017) 221–228.
- [106] J.C. Serna-Carrizales, V.H. Collins-Martínez, E. Flórez, C.F. Gomez-Duran, G. Palestino, R. Ocampo-Pérez, Adsorption of sulfamethoxazole, sulfadiazine and sulfametazine in single and ternary systems on activated carbon. Experimental and DFT computations, J. Mol. Liq. 324 (2021) 114740.
- [107] E. Çalışkan, S. Göktürk, Adsorption characteristics of sulfamethoxazole and metronidazole on activated carbon, Sep. Sci. Technol. 45 (2010) 244–255.
- [108] E.K. Putra, R. Pranowo, J. Sunarso, N. Indraswati, S. Ismadji, Performance of activated carbon and bentonite for adsorption of amoxicillin from wastewater: Mechanisms, isotherms and kinetics, Water Res. 43 (2009) 2419–2430.
- [109] L. Shao, Z. Ren, G. Zhang, L. Chen, Facile synthesis, characterization of a MnFe2O4/activated carbon magnetic composite and its effectiveness in tetracycline removal, Mater. Chem. Phys. 135 (2012) 16–24.
- [110] R. Baccar, M. Sarrà, J. Bouzid, M. Feki, P. Blánquez, Removal of pharmaceutical compounds by activated carbon prepared from agricultural by-product, Chem. Eng. J. 211 (2012) 310–317.
- [111] G. Moussavi, A. Alahabadi, K. Yaghmaeian, M. Eskandari, Preparation, characterization and adsorption potential of the NH4Cl-induced activated carbon for the removal of amoxicillin antibiotic from water, Chem. Eng. J. 217 (2013) 119–128.
- [112] H.-Y. Jang, J.-K. Kang, S.-C. Lee, J.-A. Park, S.-B. Kim, Analysis of diclofenac removal by metal-organic framework MIL-100 (Fe) using multi-parameter experiments and artificial neural network modeling, J. Taiwan Inst. Chem. Eng. 121 (2021) 257–267.
- [113] N. Prasetya, K. Li, MOF-808 and its hollow fibre adsorbents for efficient diclofenac removal, Chem. Eng. J. 417 (2021) 129216.
- [114] K. Yu, I. Ahmed, D.-I. Won, W.I. Lee, W.-S. Ahn, Highly efficient adsorptive removal of sulfamethoxazole from aqueous solutions by porphyrinic MOF-525 and MOF-545, Chemosphere 250 (2020) 126133.
- [115] S. Chen, Z. Zang, S. Zhang, G. Ouyang, R. Han, Preparation of MIL-100 (Fe) and multi-walled carbon nanotubes nanocomposite with high adsorption capacity towards Oxytetracycline from solution, J. Environ. Chem. Eng. 9 (2021) 104780.
- [116] S. Salvestrini, A. Fenti, S. Chianese, P. Iovino, D. Musmarra, Diclofenac sorption from synthetic water: Kinetic and thermodynamic analysis, J. Environ. Chem. Eng. 8 (2020) 104105.

- [117] S.-W. Nam, D.-J. Choi, S.-K. Kim, N. Her, K.-D. Zoh, Adsorption characteristics of selected hydrophilic and hydrophobic micropollutants in water using activated carbon, J. Hazard. Mater. 270 (2014) 144–152.
- [118] L. Sellaoui, E.C. Lima, G.L. Dotto, A.B. Lamine, Adsorption of amoxicillin and paracetamol on modified activated carbons: equilibrium and positional entropy studies, J. Mol. Liq. 234 (2017) 375–381.
- [119] A.C. Fröhlich, E.L. Foletto, G.L. Dotto, Preparation and characterization of NiFe2O4/activated carbon composite as potential magnetic adsorbent for removal of ibuprofen and ketoprofen pharmaceuticals from aqueous solutions, J. Clean. Prod. 229 (2019) 828–837.
- [120] H. Guedidi, L. Reinert, Y. Soneda, N. Bellakhal, L. Duclaux, Adsorption of ibuprofen from aqueous solution on chemically surface-modified activated carbon cloths, Arab. J. Chem. 10 (2017) S3584–S3594.
- [121] B. Belhamdi, H. Laksaci, C. Belabed, Z. Merzougui, S. Boudiaf, R. Tir, M. Trari, Synthesis of highly porous activated carbon derived from kernel oil treatment by-products of Argania Spinosa as a recyclable adsorbent for amoxicillin removal from real wastewater, Biomass Convers. Biorefinery (2021) 1–15.
- [122] L. Huang, M. Wang, C. Shi, J. Huang, B. Zhang, Adsorption of tetracycline and ciprofloxacin on activated carbon prepared from lignin with H3PO4 activation, Desalination, Water Treat. 52 (2014) 2678–2687.
- [123] S.E. Moradi, A.M. Haji Shabani, S. Dadfarnia, S. Emami, Effective removal of ciprofloxacin from aqueous solutions using magnetic metal–organic framework sorbents: mechanisms, isotherms and kinetics, J. Iran. Chem. Soc. 13 (2016) 1617–1627.
- [124] S. Zhuang, R. Cheng, J. Wang, Adsorption of diclofenac from aqueous solution using UiO-66-type metal-organic frameworks, Chem. Eng. J. 359 (2019) 354– 362.
- [125] T. Van Tran, D.T. Cam Nguyen, H.T. Le, O.T. Nguyen, V.H. Nguyen, T.T. Nguyen, L.G. Bach, T.D. Nguyen, A hollow mesoporous carbon from metal-organic framework for robust adsorbability of ibuprofen drug in water, R. Soc. Open Sci. 6 (2019) 190058.
- [126] P. Sathishkumar, M. Arulkumar, V. Ashokkumar, A.R.M. Yusoff, K. Murugesan, T. Palvannan, Z. Salam, F.N. Ani, T. Hadibarata, Modified phyto-waste Terminalia catappa fruit shells: a reusable adsorbent for the removal of micropollutant diclofenac, RSC Adv. 5 (2015) 30950–30962.
- [127] E.A.A. ElHussein, S. Sahin, S.S. Bayazit, Removal of carbamazepine using UiO-66 and UiO-66/graphene nanoplatelet composite, J. Environ. Chem. Eng. 8 (2020) 103898.
- [128] H. Mansouri, R.J. Carmona, A. Gomis-Berenguer, S. Souissi-Najar, A. Ouederni, C.O. Ania, Competitive adsorption of ibuprofen and amoxicillin mixtures from aqueous solution on activated carbons, J. Colloid Interface Sci. 449 (2015) 252–260.
- [129] A. Katsigiannis, C. Noutsopoulos, J. Mantziaras, M. Gioldasi, Removal of emerging pollutants through granular activated carbon, Chem. Eng. J. 280 (2015) 49–57.
- [130] F.G. Quintero-Álvarez, C.K. Rojas-Mayorga, D.I. Mendoza-Castillo, I.A. Aguayo-Villarreal, A. Bonilla-Petriciolet, Physicochemical modeling of the adsorption of pharmaceuticals on MIL-100-Fe and MIL-101-Fe MOFs, Adsorpt. Sci. Technol. 2022 (2022).
- [131] Y. Gao, M.A. Deshusses, Adsorption of clofibric acid and ketoprofen onto powdered activated carbon: effect of natural organic matter, Environ. Technol. 32 (2011) 1719–1727.
- [132] M. Xie, L.D. Nghiem, W.E. Price, M. Elimelech, Impact of humic acid fouling on membrane performance and transport of pharmaceutically active compounds in forward osmosis, Water Res. 47 (2013) 4567–4575, https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2013.05.013.
- [133] D. Hernández, L. Lazo, L. Valdés, L.C. de Ménorval, Z. Rozynek, A. Rivera, Synthetic clay mineral as nanocarrier of sulfamethoxazole and trimethoprim, Appl. Clay Sci. 161 (2018) 395–403, https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.clay.2018.03.016.
- [134] E.C. dos Santos, W.P. Gates, L. Michels, F. Juranyi, A. Mikkelsen, G.J. da Silva, J. O. Fossum, H.N. Bordallo, The pH influence on the intercalation of the bioactive agent ciprofloxacin in fluorohectorite, Appl. Clay Sci. 166 (2018) 288–298, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clay.2018.09.029.
- [135] F. Gambinossi, B. Mecheri, M. Nocentini, M. Puggelli, G. Caminati, Effect of the phospholipid head group in antibiotic-phospholipid association at water-air interface, Biophys. Chem. 110 (2004) 101–117, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bpc.2004.01.008.
- [136] M. Ghadiri, H. Hau, W. Chrzanowski, H. Agus, R. Rohanizadeh, Laponite clay as a carrier for in situ delivery of tetracycline, RSC Adv. 3 (2013) 20193– 20201.
- [137] A. Mestre, M. Pinto, J. Pires, J. Nogueira, A. Carvalho, Effect of solution pH on the removal of clofibric acid by cork-based activated carbons, Carbon 48 (2010) 972–980.
- [138] M. Ezechiáš, J. Janochová, A. Filipová, Z. Křesinová, T. Cajthaml, Widely used pharmaceuticals present in the environment revealed as in vitro antagonists for human estrogen and androgen receptors, Chemosphere 152 (2016) 284– 291, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2016.02.067.
- [139] S. Chopra, D. Kumar, Ibuprofen as an emerging organic contaminant in environment, distribution and remediation, Heliyon 6 (2020) e04087.
- [140] I.Y. López-Pacheco, A. Silva-Núñez, C. Salinas-Salazar, A. Arévalo-Gallegos, L. A. Lizarazo-Holguin, D. Barceló, H.M. Iqbal, R. Parra-Saldívar, Anthropogenic contaminants of high concern: existence in water resources and their adverse effects, Sci. Total Environ. 690 (2019) 1068–1088.

- [141] H. Nourmoradi, K.F. Moghadam, A. Jafari, B. Kamarehie, Removal of acetaminophen and ibuprofen from aqueous solutions by activated carbon derived from Quercus Brantii (Oak) acorn as a low-cost biosorbent, J. Environ. Chem. Eng. 6 (2018) 6807–6815.
- [142] K. Jedynak, B. Szczepanik, N. Rędzia, P. Słomkiewicz, A. Kolbus, P. Rogala, Ordered mesoporous carbons for adsorption of paracetamol and nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs: ibuprofen and naproxen from aqueous solutions, Water. 11 (2019) 1099.
- [143] S.P. Dubey, A.D. Dwivedi, M. Sillanpää, K. Gopal, Artemisia vulgaris-derived mesoporous honeycomb-shaped activated carbon for ibuprofen adsorption, Chem. Eng. J. 165 (2010) 537–544.
- [144] P. Iovino, S. Canzano, S. Capasso, A. Erto, D. Musmarra, A modeling analysis for the assessment of ibuprofen adsorption mechanism onto activated carbons, Chem. Eng. J. 277 (2015) 360–367.
- [145] S.P. Dubey, A.D. Dwivedi, C. Lee, Y.-N. Kwon, M. Sillanpaa, L.Q. Ma, Raspberry derived mesoporous carbon-tubules and fixed-bed adsorption of pharmaceutical drugs, J. Ind. Eng. Chem. 20 (2014) 1126–1132.
- [146] H. Kaur, A. Bansiwal, G. Hippargi, G.R. Pophali, Effect of hydrophobicity of pharmaceuticals and personal care products for adsorption on activated carbon: adsorption isotherms, kinetics and mechanism, Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 25 (2018) 20473–20485.
- [147] R.L.T. Costa, R.A. do Nascimento, R.C.S. de Araújo, M.G.A. Vieira, M.G.C. da Silva, S.M.L. de Carvalho, L.J.C. de Faria, Removal of non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) from water with activated carbons synthetized from waste murumuru (Astrocaryum murumuru Mart.): Characterization and adsorption studies, J. Mol. Liq. 343 (2021) 116980.
- [148] X. Xu, X. An, Spherical activated carbon modified by polymerized ionic liquid for the removal of ibuprofen from water, J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol. 91 (2016) 1794–1801.
- [149] J.J. Alvear-Daza, A. Cánneva, J.A. Donadelli, M. Manrique-Holguín, J.A. Rengifo-Herrera, L.R. Pizzio, Removal of diclofenac and ibuprofen on mesoporous activated carbon from agro-industrial wastes prepared by optimized synthesis employing a central composite design, Biomass Convers. Biorefinery. (2022) 1–23.
- [150] D.T.C. Nguyen, H.T.N. Le, T.S. Do, V.T. Pham, L. Dai Tran, V.T.T. Ho, T.V. Tran, D. C. Nguyen, T.D. Nguyen, L.G. Bach, Metal-organic framework MIL-53 (Fe) as an adsorbent for ibuprofen drug removal from aqueous solutions: response surface modeling and optimization, J. Chem. 2019 (2019).
- [151] B.N. Bhadra, I. Ahmed, S. Kim, S.H. Jhung, Adsorptive removal of ibuprofen and diclofenac from water using metal-organic framework-derived porous carbon, Chem. Eng. J. 314 (2017) 50–58.
- [152] R. Bueno-Perez, A. Martin-Calvo, P. Gómez-Álvarez, J.J. Gutiérrez-Sevillano, P. J. Merkling, T.J. Vlugt, T.S. van Erp, D. Dubbeldam, S. Calero, Enantioselective adsorption of ibuprofen and lysine in metal-organic frameworks, Chem. Commun. 50 (2014) 10849–10852.
- [153] N. Zhuo, Y. Lan, W. Yang, Z. Yang, X. Li, X. Zhou, Y. Liu, J. Shen, X. Zhang, Adsorption of three selected pharmaceuticals and personal care products (PPCPs) onto MIL-101 (Cr)/natural polymer composite beads, Sep. Purif. Technol. 177 (2017) 272–280.
- [154] T. Wu, N. Prasetya, K. Li, Re-generable and re-synthesisable micro-structured MIL-53 Rachig Rings for ibuprofen removal, J. Environ. Chem. Eng. 10 (2022) 107432.
- [155] M. Sarker, S. Shin, S.H. Jhung, Synthesis and functionalization of porous Zrdiaminostilbenedicarboxylate metal-organic framework for storage and stable delivery of ibuprofen, ACS Omega 4 (2019) 9860–9867.
- [156] H.N. Hong, H.N. Kim, K.S. Park, S.-K. Lee, M.B. Gu, Analysis of the effects diclofenac has on Japanese medaka (Oryzias latipes) using real-time PCR, Chemosphere 67 (2007) 2115–2121, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chemosphere.2006.12.090.
- [157] J.L. Sotelo, G. Ovejero, A. Rodríguez, S. Álvarez, J. Galán, J. García, Competitive adsorption studies of caffeine and diclofenac aqueous solutions by activated carbon, Chem. Eng. J. 240 (2014) 443–453.
- [158] P.V. Viotti, W.M. Moreira, O.A.A. dos Santos, R. Bergamasco, A.M.S. Vieira, M.F. Vieira, Diclofenac removal from water by adsorption on Moringa oleifera pods and activated carbon: Mechanism, kinetic and equilibrium study, J. Clean. Prod. 219 (2019) 809–817.
- [159] L. Sellaoui, N. Mechi, É.C. Lima, G.L. Dotto, A.B. Lamine, Adsorption of diclofenac and nimesulide on activated carbon: statistical physics modeling and effect of adsorbate size, J. Phys. Chem. Solids 109 (2017) 117–123.
- [160] V. Rakić, V. Rac, M. Krmar, O. Otman, A. Auroux, The adsorption of pharmaceutically active compounds from aqueous solutions onto activated carbons, J. Hazard. Mater. 282 (2015) 141–149.
- [161] M. Varga, M. ELAbadsa, E. Tatár, V.G. Mihucz, Removal of selected pharmaceuticals from aqueous matrices with activated carbon under batch conditions, Microchem. J. 148 (2019) 661–672.
- [162] Z. Hasan, N.A. Khan, S.H. Jhung, Adsorptive removal of diclofenac sodium from water with Zr-based metal-organic frameworks, Chem. Eng. J. 284 (2016) 1406–1413.
- [163] A.A. Castañeda Ramírez, E. Rojas García, R. López Medina, J.L. Contreras Larios, R. Suárez Parra, A.M. Maubert Franco, Selective adsorption of aqueous diclofenac sodium, naproxen sodium, and ibuprofen using a stable Fe3O4– FeBTC metal-organic frameworka, Materials 14 (2021) 2293.
- [164] X. Zheng, J. Wang, X. Xue, W. Liu, Y. Kong, R. Cheng, D. Yuan, Facile synthesis of Fe3O4@ MOF-100 (Fe) magnetic microspheres for the adsorption of diclofenac sodium in aqueous solution, Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 25 (2018) 31705–31717.

- [165] W. Liu, X. Shen, Y. Han, Z. Liu, W. Dai, A. Dutta, A. Kumar, J. Liu, Selective adsorption and removal of drug contaminants by using an extremely stable Cu (II)-based 3D metal-organic framework, Chemosphere 215 (2019) 524– 531.
- [166] A. Karami, R. Sabouni, M. Ghommem, Experimental investigation of competitive co-adsorption of naproxen and diclofenac from water by an aluminum-based metal-organic framework, J. Mol. Liq. 305 (2020) 112808.
- [167] M. Isidori, M. Lavorgna, A. Nardelli, A. Parrella, L. Previtera, M. Rubino, Ecotoxicity of naproxen and its phototransformation products, Sci. Total Environ. 348 (2005) 93–101, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2004.12.068.
- [168] Z. Hasan, J. Jeon, S.H. Jhung, Adsorptive removal of naproxen and clofibric acid from water using metal-organic frameworks, J. Hazard. Mater. 209 (2012) 151–157.
- [169] Y. Önal, C. Akmil-Başar, Ç. Sarıcı-Özdemir, Elucidation of the naproxen sodium adsorption onto activated carbon prepared from waste apricot: kinetic, equilibrium and thermodynamic characterization, J. Hazard. Mater. 148 (2007) 727–734.
- [170] M. Sarker, J.Y. Song, S.H. Jhung, Adsorptive removal of anti-inflammatory drugs from water using graphene oxide/metal-organic framework composites, Chem. Eng. J. 335 (2018) 74–81.
- [171] J. Lach, A. Szymonik, Adsorption of naproxen sodium from aqueous solutions on commercial activated carbons, J. Ecol. Eng. 20 (2019).
- [172] S. Mondal, S. Patel, S.K. Majumder, Naproxen removal capacity enhancement by transforming the activated carbon into a blended composite material, Water Air Soil Pollut. 231 (2020) 1–16.
- [173] P. González-García, S. Gamboa-González, I. Andrade Martinez, T. Hernández-Quiroz, Preparation of activated carbon from water hyacinth stems by chemical activation with K2CO3 and its performance as adsorbent of sodium naproxen, Environ. Prog. Sustain. Energy. 39 (2020) e13366.
- [174] N. Ozcan, D. Saloglu, Activated carbon embedded alginate beads for removing nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug naproxen from wastewater: equilibrium, kinetics, thermodynamics, desorption, and reusability, Water Sci. Technol. 81 (2020) 1432–1444.
- [175] D.S. Franco, K. da Boit Martinello, J. Georgin, M.S. Netto, E.L. Foletto, D.G. Piccilli, L.F. Silva, G.S. Dos Reis, G.L. Dotto, Application of biowaste generated by the production chain of pitaya fruit (Hylocereus undatus) as an efficient adsorbent for removal of naproxen in water, Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. (2022) 1–14.
- [176] Ç. Sarici-Özdemir, Y. Önal, Study to observe the applicability of the adsorption isotherms used for the adsorption of medicine organics onto activated carbon, Part. Sci. Technol. 36 (2018) 254–261.
- [177] Ç. Sarici-Özdemir, Y. Önal, Study to investigate the importance of mass transfer of naproxen sodium onto activated carbon, Chem. Eng. Process. Process Intensif. 49 (2010) 1058–1065.
- [178] Ş.S. Bayazit, S. Şahin, Acid-modulated zirconium based metal organic frameworks for removal of organic micropollutants, J. Environ. Chem. Eng. 8 (2020) 103901.
- [179] P. Xiong, H. Zhang, G. Li, C. Liao, G. Jiang, Adsorption removal of ibuprofen and naproxen from aqueous solution with Cu-doped Mil-101 (Fe), Sci. Total Environ. 797 (2021) 149179.
- [180] J. Wang, S. Zhao, M. Zhang, B. He, Targeted eco-pharmacovigilance for ketoprofen in the environment: need, strategy and challenge, Chemosphere 194 (2018) 450–462.
- [181] E. Prášková, S. Štěpánová, L. Chromcová, L. Plhalová, E. Voslářová, V. Pištěková, M. Prokeš, Z. Svobodová, The effects of subchronic exposure to ketoprofen on early developmental stages of common carp, Acta Vet. Brno. 82 (2013) 343–347.
- [182] V. Naidoo, L. Venter, K. Wolter, M. Taggart, R. Cuthbert, The toxicokinetics of ketoprofen in Gyps coprotheres: toxicity due to zero-order metabolism, Arch. Toxicol. 84 (2010) 761–766, https://doi.org/10.1007/s00204-010-0521-0.
- [183] J. Georgin, L.deO. Yamil, D.S. Franco, M.S. Netto, D.G. Piccilli, D. Perondi, L.F. Silva, E.L. Foletto, G.L. Dotto, Development of highly porous activated carbon from Jacaranda mimosifolia seed pods for remarkable removal of aqueousphase ketoprofen, J. Environ. Chem. Eng. 9 (2021) 105676.
- [184] M. Alizadeh Fard, B. Barkdoll, Magnetic activated carbon as a sustainable solution for removal of micropollutants from water, Int. J. Environ. Sci. Technol. 16 (2019) 1625–1636.
- [185] F. Fadzail, M. Hasan, Z. Mokhtar, N. Ibrahim, O.S. An, C.Z.A. Abidin, Batch adsorption studies for ketoprofen removal via Dillenia Indica peel activated carbon, IOP Conf. Ser. Earth Environ. Sci. 920 (2021), https://doi.org/10.1088/ 1755-1315/920/1/012010 012010.
- [186] C.M. Kerkhoff, K. da Boit Martinello, D.S.P. Franco, M.S. Netto, J. Georgin, E.L. Foletto, D.G.A. Piccilli, L.F.O. Silva, G.L. Dotto, Adsorption of ketoprofen and paracetamol and treatment of a synthetic mixture by novel porous carbon derived from Butia capitata endocarp, J. Mol. Liq. 339 (2021), https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.molliq.2021.117184 117184.
- [187] Y.L. de O Salomón, J. Georgin, D.S. Franco, M.S. Netto, D.G. Piccilli, E.L. Foletto, C. Manera, M. Godinho, D. Perondi, G.L. Dotto, Development of activated carbon from Schizolobium parahyba (guapuruvu) residues employed for the removal of ketoprofen, Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. (2021) 1–16.
- [188] S. Lin, Y. Zhao, Y.-S. Yun, Highly effective removal of nonsteroidal antiinflammatory pharmaceuticals from water by Zr(IV)-based metal-organic framework: adsorption performance and mechanisms, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 10 (2018) 28076–28085, https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami.8b08596.
- [189] R. Babarao, J. Jiang, Unraveling the energetics and dynamics of Ibuprofen in Mesoporous metal- organic frameworks, J. Phys. Chem. C 113 (2009) 18287– 18291.

- [190] S. Dey, F. Bano, A. Malik, Pharmaceuticals and personal care product (PPCP) contamination—a global discharge inventory, in: Pharm. Pers. Care Prod. Waste Manag. Treat. Technol., Elsevier, 2019, pp. 1–26.
- [191] J. Zhang, S. Xiang, P. Wu, D. Wang, S. Lu, S. Wang, F. Gong, X. Wei, X. Ye, P. Ding, Recent advances in performance improvement of Metal-organic Frameworks to remove antibiotics: Mechanism and evaluation, Sci. Total Environ. (2021) 152351.
- [192] C. Du, Z. Zhang, G. Yu, H. Wu, H. Chen, L. Zhou, Y. Zhang, Y. Su, S. Tan, L. Yang, A review of metal organic framework (MOFs)-based materials for antibiotics removal via adsorption and photocatalysis, Chemosphere 272 (2021) 129501.
- [193] D.J. Larsson, Antibiotics in the environment, Ups. J. Med. Sci. 119 (2014) 108– 112.
- [194] T.M. LaPara, T.R. Burch, P.J. McNamara, D.T. Tan, M. Yan, J.J. Eichmiller, Tertiary-treated municipal wastewater is a significant point source of antibiotic resistance genes into Duluth-Superior Harbor, Environ. Sci. Technol. 45 (2011) 9543–9549.
- [195] K. Hruska, M. Fránek, Sulfonamides in the environment: a review and a case report, Vet. Med. 57 (2012) 1–35.
- [196] N. Pamphile, L. Xuejiao, Y. Guangwei, W. Yin, Synthesis of a novel core-shellstructure activated carbon material and its application in sulfamethoxazole adsorption, J. Hazard. Mater. 368 (2019) 602–612.
- [197] M. Bizi, Sulfamethoxazole removal from drinking water by activated carbon: kinetics and diffusion process, Molecules 25 (2020) 4656.
- [198] T. Van Tran, D.T.C. Nguyen, H.-T.-T. Nguyen, S. Nanda, D.-V.-N. Vo, S.T. Do, T. Van Nguyen, T.A.D. Thi, L.G. Bach, T.D. Nguyen, Application of Fe-based metal-organic framework and its pyrolysis products for sulfonamide treatment, Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 26 (2019) 28106–28126.
- [199] P. Hongsawat, P. Prarat, Comparative adsorption performance of oxytetracycline and sulfamethoxazole antibiotic on powder activated carbon and graphene oxide, Chem. Pap. 1–13 (2022).
- [200] A. Moral-Rodríguez, R. Leyva-Ramos, R. Ocampo-Pérez, J. Mendoza-Barron, I. Serratos-Alvarez, J. Salazar-Rabago, Removal of ronidazole and sulfamethoxazole from water solutions by adsorption on granular activated carbon: equilibrium and intraparticle diffusion mechanisms, Adsorption. 22 (2016) 89–103.
- [201] L. Nielsen, M.J. Biggs, W. Skinner, T.J. Bandosz, The effects of activated carbon surface features on the reactive adsorption of carbamazepine and sulfamethoxazole, Carbon 80 (2014) 419–432.
- [202] L. Chu, J. Wang, Regeneration of sulfamethoxazole-saturated activated carbon using gamma irradiation, Radiat. Phys. Chem. 130 (2017) 391–396.
- [203] L. Xia, Y. Dou, J. Gao, Y. Gao, W. Fan, G. Li, J. You, Adsorption behavior of a metal organic framework of University in Oslo 67 and its application to the extraction of sulfonamides in meat samples, J. Chromatogr. A 1619 (2020) 460949.
- [204] X. Huang, Q. Hu, L. Gao, Q. Hao, P. Wang, D. Qin, Adsorption characteristics of metal-organic framework MIL-101 (Cr) towards sulfamethoxazole and its persulfate oxidation regeneration, RSC Adv. 8 (2018) 27623–27630.
- [205] X. Li, H. Yuan, X. Quan, S. Chen, S. You, Effective adsorption of sulfamethoxazole, bisphenol A and methyl orange on nanoporous carbon derived from metal-organic frameworks, J. Environ. Sci. 63 (2018) 250–259.
- [206] Y. Li, Adsorption of sulfamethoxazole on nanoporous carbon derived from metal-organic frameworks, J. Geosci, Environ. Prot. 5 (2017) 1.
- [207] J. Li, H. Zhang, Factors influencing adsorption and desorption of trimethoprim on marine sediments: mechanisms and kinetics, Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 24 (2017) 21929–21937.
- [208] J. Berges, S. Moles, M.P. Ormad, R. Mosteo, J. Gómez, Antibiotics removal from aquatic environments: adsorption of enrofloxacin, trimethoprim, sulfadiazine, and amoxicillin on vegetal powdered activated carbon, Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 28 (2021) 8442–8452.
- [209] M. Miaoa, S. Maa, L. Shuc, Q. Konga, Y. Liub, Adsorption characteristics of antibiotics trimethoprim by activated carbon developed from low-cost alligator weed: kinetics, equilibrium and thermodynamic analyses, Desalin. Water Treat. 96 (2017) 76–85.
- [210] M.-G. Lee, S.-K. Kam, Study on the adsorption of antibiotics trimethoprim in aqueous solution by activated carbon prepared from waste citrus peel using box-behnken design, Korean Chem. Eng. Res. 56 (2018) 568–576.
- [211] S. Kim, H. Shon, H. Ngo, Adsorption characteristics of antibiotics trimethoprim on powdered and granular activated carbon, J. Ind. Eng. Chem. 16 (2010) 344–349.
- [212] H. Liu, J. Zhang, H.H. Ngo, W. Guo, H. Wu, Z. Guo, C. Cheng, C. Zhang, Effect on physical and chemical characteristics of activated carbon on adsorption of trimethoprim: mechanisms study, RSC Adv. 5 (2015) 85187–85195.
- [213] M. Elkady, K.E. Diab, H. Shokry, Trimethoprim antibiotic adsorption from aqueous solution onto eco-friendly zr-metal organic framework material, Materials 14 (2021) 7545.
- [214] H. Liu, Z. Hu, H. Liu, H. Xie, S. Lu, Q. Wang, J. Zhang, Adsorption of amoxicillin by Mn-impregnated activated carbons: performance and mechanisms, RSC Adv. 6 (2016) 11454–11460.
- [215] I. Ali, S. Afshinb, Y. Poureshgh, A. Azari, Y. Rashtbari, A. Feizizadeh, A. Hamzezadeh, M. Fazlzadeh, Green preparation of activated carbon from pomegranate peel coated with zero-valent iron nanoparticles (nZVI) and isotherm and kinetic studies of amoxicillin removal in water, Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 27 (2020) 36732–36743.
- [216] D.L.C. Rodrigues, F.M. Machado, A.G. Osório, C.F. de Azevedo, E.C. Lima, R.S. da Silva, D.R. Lima, F.M. Gonçalves, Adsorption of amoxicillin onto high surface

area-activated carbons based on olive biomass: kinetic and equilibrium studies, Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 27 (2020) 41394–41404.

- [217] M.A. Chayid, M.J. Ahmed, Amoxicillin adsorption on microwave prepared activated carbon from Arundo donax Linn: isotherms, kinetics, and thermodynamics studies, J. Environ. Chem. Eng. 3 (2015) 1592–1601.
- [218] O. Pezoti, A.L. Cazetta, K.C. Bedin, L.S. Souza, A.C. Martins, T.L. Silva, O.O.S. Júnior, J.V. Visentainer, V.C. Almeida, NaOH-activated carbon of high surface area produced from guava seeds as a high-efficiency adsorbent for amoxicillin removal: Kinetic, isotherm and thermodynamic studies, Chem. Eng. J. 288 (2016) 778–788.
- [219] D.R. Lima, E.C. Lima, C.S. Umpierres, P.S. Thue, G.A. El-Chaghaby, R.S. da Silva, F.A. Pavan, S.L. Dias, C. Biron, Removal of amoxicillin from simulated hospital effluents by adsorption using activated carbons prepared from capsules of cashew of Para, Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 26 (2019) 16396–16408.
- [220] M. Belhachemi, S. Djelaila, Removal of amoxicillin antibiotic from aqueous solutions by date pits activated carbons, Environ. Process. 4 (2017) 549–561.
- [221] U.B. Simsek, C. Gecgel, M. Turabik, Different iron based metal organic frameworks synthesis, characterization and using for amoxicillin removal from aqueous solutions, (n.d.).
- [222] R. Abazari, A.R. Mahjoub, Ultrasound-assisted synthesis of Zinc (II)-based metal organic framework nanoparticles in the presence of modulator for adsorption enhancement of 2, 4-dichlorophenol and amoxicillin, Ultrason. Sonochem. 42 (2018) 577–584.
- [223] O.E. Ohore, S. Zhang, S. Guo, F.G. Addo, B. Manirakiza, W. Zhang, Ciprofloxacin increased abundance of antibiotic resistance genes and shaped microbial community in epiphytic biofilm on Vallisneria spiralis in mesocosmic wetland, Bioresour. Technol. 323 (2021) 124574.
- [224] S. Carabineiro, T. Thavorn-Amornsri, M. Pereira, P. Serp, J. Figueiredo, Comparison between activated carbon, carbon xerogel and carbon nanotubes for the adsorption of the antibiotic ciprofloxacin, Catal. Today 186 (2012) 29–34.
- [225] Y. Sun, Q. Yue, B. Gao, Y. Gao, X. Xu, Q. Li, Y. Wang, Adsorption and cosorption of ciprofloxacin and Ni (II) on activated carbon-mechanism study, J. Taiwan Inst. Chem. Eng. 45 (2014) 681–688.
- [226] Y. Sun, H. Li, G. Li, B. Gao, Q. Yue, X. Li, Characterization and ciprofloxacin adsorption properties of activated carbons prepared from biomass wastes by H3PO4 activation, Bioresour. Technol. 217 (2016) 239–244.
- [227] B. Zhang, X. Han, P. Gu, S. Fang, J. Bai, Response surface methodology approach for optimization of ciprofloxacin adsorption using activated carbon derived from the residue of desilicated rice husk, J. Mol. Liq. 238 (2017) 316– 325.
- [228] X. Peng, F. Hu, T. Zhang, F. Qiu, H. Dai, Amine-functionalized magnetic bamboo-based activated carbon adsorptive removal of ciprofloxacin and norfloxacin: A batch and fixed-bed column study, Bioresour. Technol. 249 (2018) 924–934.
- [229] M. Malakootian, A. Nasiri, H. Mahdizadeh, Preparation of CoFe2O4/activated carbon@ chitosan as a new magnetic nanobiocomposite for adsorption of ciprofloxacin in aqueous solutions, Water Sci. Technol. 78 (2018) 2158–2170.
- [230] C. de Oliveira Carvalho, D.L. Costa Rodrigues, É.C. Lima, C. Santanna Umpierres, D.F. Caicedo Chaguezac, F. Machado Machado, Kinetic, equilibrium, and thermodynamic studies on the adsorption of ciprofloxacin by activated carbon produced from Jerivá (Syagrus romanzoffiana), Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 26 (2019) 4690–4702.
- [231] M. Wang, G. Li, L. Huang, J. Xue, Q. Liu, N. Bao, J. Huang, Study of ciprofloxacin adsorption and regeneration of activated carbon prepared from Enteromorpha prolifera impregnated with H3PO4 and sodium benzenesulfonate, Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 139 (2017) 36–42.
- [232] A. Chandrasekaran, C. Patra, S. Narayanasamy, S. Subbiah, Adsorptive removal of Ciprofloxacin and Amoxicillin from single and binary aqueous systems using acid-activated carbon from Prosopis juliflora, Environ. Res. 188 (2020) 109825.
- [233] N. Sharifpour, F.M. Moghaddam, G. Mardani, M. Malakootian, Evaluation of the activated carbon coated with multiwalled carbon nanotubes in removal of ciprofloxacin from aqueous solutions, Appl. Water Sci. 10 (2020) 1–17.
- [234] Y. Wang, H. Ngo, W. Guo, Preparation of a specific bamboo based activated carbon and its application for ciprofloxacin removal, Sci. Total Environ. 533 (2015) 32–39.
- [235] M.E. Peñafiel, J.M. Matesanz, E. Vanegas, D. Bermejo, R. Mosteo, M.P. Ormad, Comparative adsorption of ciprofloxacin on sugarcane bagasse from Ecuador and on commercial powdered activated carbon, Sci. Total Environ. 750 (2021) 141498.
- [236] T.J. Al-Musawi, A.H. Mahvi, A.D. Khatibi, D. Balarak, Effective adsorption of ciprofloxacin antibiotic using powdered activated carbon magnetized by iron (III) oxide magnetic nanoparticles, J. Porous Mater. 28 (2021) 835–852.
- [237] A. Avcı, İ. İnci, N. Baylan, A comparative adsorption study with various adsorbents for the removal of ciprofloxacin hydrochloride from water, Water Air Soil Pollut. 230 (2019) 1–9.
- [238] O.S. Agboola, O.S. Bello, Enhanced adsorption of ciprofloxacin from aqueous solutions using functionalized banana stalk, Biomass Convers. Biorefinery (2020) 1–16.
- [239] S. Shi, Y. Fan, Y. Huang, Facile low temperature hydrothermal synthesis of magnetic mesoporous carbon nanocomposite for adsorption removal of ciprofloxacin antibiotics, Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 52 (2013) 2604–2612.
- [240] M.D. Olawale, A.C. Tella, J.A. Obaleye, J.S. Olatunji, Synthesis, characterization and crystal structure of a copper-glutamate metal organic framework (MOF)

and its adsorptive removal of ciprofloxacin drug from aqueous solution, New J. Chem. 44 (2020) 3961–3969.

- [241] S.S. Bayazit, S.T. Danalıoğlu, M. Abdel Salam, Ö. Kerkez Kuyumcu, Preparation of magnetic MIL-101 (Cr) for efficient removal of ciprofloxacin, Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 24 (2017) 25452–25461.
- [242] E. Kurtulbaş, S. Şahin, M. Bilgin, Ş.S. Bayazit, Preparation of chromium fumarate metal-organic frameworks for removal of pharmaceutical compounds from water, Korean J. Chem. Eng. 1–8 (2022).
- [243] A. Dehghan, A.A. Mohammadi, M. Yousefi, A.A. Najafpoor, M. Shams, S. Rezania, Enhanced kinetic removal of ciprofloxacin onto metal-organic frameworks by sonication, process optimization and metal leaching study, Nanomaterials. 9 (2019) 1422.
- [244] T. Van Tran, D.T.C. Nguyen, T.T. Nguyen, H.T. Le, C. Van Nguyen, T.D. Nguyen, Metal-organic framework HKUST-1-based Cu/Cu2O/CuO@ C porous composite: Rapid synthesis and uptake application in antibiotics remediation, J. Water Process Eng. 36 (2020) 101319.
- [245] F. Yu, X. Bai, M. Liang, J. Ma, HKUST-1-Derived Cu@ Cu (I)@ Cu (II)/Carbon adsorbents for ciprofloxacin removal with high adsorption performance, Sep. Purif. Technol. 288 (2022) 120647.
- [246] C. Jiang, X. Zhang, X. Xu, L. Wang, Magnetic mesoporous carbon material with strong ciprofloxacin adsorption removal property fabricated through the calcination of mixed valence Fe based metal-organic framework, J. Porous Mater. 23 (2016) 1297–1304.
- [247] F. Ahmad, D. Zhu, J. Sun, Environmental fate of tetracycline antibiotics: degradation pathway mechanisms, challenges, and perspectives, Environ. Sci. Eur. 33 (2021) 64, https://doi.org/10.1186/s12302-021-00505-y.
- [248] Y. Dai, M. Liu, J. Li, S. Yang, Y. Sun, Q. Sun, W. Wang, L. Lu, K. Zhang, J. Xu, A review on pollution situation and treatment methods of tetracycline in groundwater, Sep. Sci. Technol. 55 (2020) 1005–1021.
- [249] A. Chen, Y. Chen, C. Ding, H. Liang, B. Yang, Effects of tetracycline on simultaneous biological wastewater nitrogen and phosphorus removal, RSC Adv. 5 (2015) 59326–59334.
- [250] A.C. Martins, O. Pezoti, A.L. Cazetta, K.C. Bedin, D.A. Yamazaki, G.F. Bandoch, T. Asefa, J.V. Visentainer, V.C. Almeida, Removal of tetracycline by NaOH-activated carbon produced from macadamia nut shells: kinetic and equilibrium studies, Chem. Eng. J. 260 (2015) 291–299.
- [251] M.H. Marzbali, M. Esmaieli, H. Abolghasemi, M.H. Marzbali, Tetracycline adsorption by H3PO4-activated carbon produced from apricot nut shells: A batch study, Process Saf. Environ. Prot. 102 (2016) 700–709.
- [252] H. Sayğılı, F. Güzel, Effective removal of tetracycline from aqueous solution using activated carbon prepared from tomato (Lycopersicon esculentum Mill.) industrial processing waste, Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 131 (2016) 22–29.
- [253] A. Takdastan, A.H. Mahvi, E.C. Lima, M. Shirmardi, A.A. Babaei, G. Goudarzi, A. Neisi, M. Heidari Farsani, M. Vosoughi, Preparation, characterization, and application of activated carbon from low-cost material for the adsorption of tetracycline antibiotic from aqueous solutions, Water Sci. Technol. 74 (2016) 2349–2363.
- [254] C. Zhao, W. Yin, J. Xu, Y. Zhang, D. Shang, Z. Guo, Q. Wang, J. Wang, Q. Kong, Removal of tetracycline from water using activated carbon derived from the mixture of phragmites australis and waterworks sludge, ACS Omega 5 (2020) 16045–16052.
- [255] M. Wei, F. Marrakchi, C. Yuan, X. Cheng, D. Jiang, F.F. Zafar, Y. Fu, S. Wang, Adsorption modeling, thermodynamics, and DFT simulation of tetracycline onto mesoporous and high-surface-area NaOH-activated macroalgae carbon, J. Hazard. Mater. 425 (2022) 127887.
- [256] J. Rivera-Utrilla, C.V. Gómez-Pacheco, M. Sánchez-Polo, J.J. López-Peñalver, R. Ocampo-Pérez, Tetracycline removal from water by adsorption/ bioadsorption on activated carbons and sludge-derived adsorbents, J. Environ. Manage. 131 (2013) 16–24.
- [257] A. Yazidi, M. Atrous, F.E. Soetaredjo, L. Sellaoui, S. Ismadji, A. Erto, A. Bonilla-Petriciolet, G.L. Dotto, A.B. Lamine, Adsorption of amoxicillin and tetracycline on activated carbon prepared from durian shell in single and binary systems: Experimental study and modeling analysis, Chem. Eng. J. 379 (2020) 122320.
- [258] H. Pouretedal, N. Sadegh, Effective removal of amoxicillin, cephalexin, tetracycline and penicillin G from aqueous solutions using activated carbon nanoparticles prepared from vine wood, J. Water Process Eng. 1 (2014) 64– 73.
- [259] L.R.deC. Costa, L.A. Féris, Use of functinalized adsorbents for tetracycline removal in wastewater: adsorption mechanism and comparison with activated carbon, J. Environ. Sci. Health., Part A 55 (2020) 1604–1614.
- [260] P. Liu, Q. Wang, C. Zheng, C. He, Sorption of sulfadiazine, norfloxacin, metronidazole, and tetracycline by granular activated carbon: kinetics, mechanisms, and isotherms, Water Air Soil Pollut. 228 (2017) 1–14.
- [261] K. Khaledi, G.V. Labrada, J. Soltan, B. Predicala, M. Nemati, Adsorptive removal of tetracycline and lincomycin from contaminated water using magnetized activated carbon, J. Environ. Chem. Eng. 9 (2021) 105998.
- [262] G. Li, D. Zhang, M. Wang, J. Huang, L. Huang, Preparation of activated carbons from Iris tectorum employing ferric nitrate as dopant for removal of tetracycline from aqueous solutions, Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 98 (2013) 273–282.
- [263] K. Wang, J. Wu, M. Zhu, Y.-Z. Zheng, X. Tao, Highly effective pH-universal removal of tetracycline hydrochloride antibiotics by UiO-66-(COOH) 2/GO metal-organic framework composites, J. Solid State Chem. 284 (2020) 121200.
- [264] Y. Sun, M. Chen, H. Liu, Y. Zhu, D. Wang, M. Yan, Adsorptive removal of dye and antibiotic from water with functionalized zirconium-based metal

organic framework and graphene oxide composite nanomaterial Uio-66-(OH) 2/GO, Appl. Surf. Sci. 525 (2020) 146614.

- [265] R. Xiao, H.I. Abdu, L. Wei, T. Wang, S. Huo, J. Chen, X. Lu, Fabrication of magnetic trimetallic metal-organic frameworks for the rapid removal of tetracycline from water, Analyst. 145 (2020) 2398–2404.
- [266] M.D. DeFuria, M. Zeller, D.T. Genna, Removal of pharmaceuticals from water via π - π stacking interactions in perfluorinated metal-organic frameworks, Cryst. Growth Des. 16 (2016) 3530–3534.
- [267] W. Xiong, Z. Zeng, G. Zeng, Z. Yang, R. Xiao, X. Li, J. Cao, C. Zhou, H. Chen, M. Jia, Metal-organic frameworks derived magnetic carbon-αFe/Fe3C composites as a highly effective adsorbent for tetracycline removal from aqueous solution, Chem. Eng. J. 374 (2019) 91–99.
- [268] Z. Yang, J. Cao, Y. Chen, X. Li, W. Xiong, Y. Zhou, C. Zhou, R. Xu, Y. Zhang, Mndoped zirconium metal-organic framework as an effective adsorbent for removal of tetracycline and Cr (VI) from aqueous solution, Microporous Mesoporous Mater. 277 (2019) 277–285.
- [269] Z. Zhang, Y. Chen, C. Hu, C. Zuo, P. Wang, W. Chen, T. Ao, Efficient removal of tetracycline by a hierarchically porous ZIF-8 metal organic framework, Environ. Res. 198 (2021) 111254.
- [270] Z. Zhang, C. Ding, Y. Li, H. Ke, G. Cheng, Efficient removal of tetracycline hydrochloride from aqueous solution by mesoporous cage MOF-818, SN Appl. Sci. 2 (2020) 1–11.
- [271] Z. Wang, C. Wu, Z. Zhang, Y. Chen, W. Deng, W. Chen, Bimetallic Fe/Co-MOFs for tetracycline elimination, J. Mater. Sci. 56 (2021) 15684–15697, https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10853-021-06280-8.
- [272] X. Hou, J. Shi, N. Wang, Z. Wen, M. Sun, J. Qu, Q. Hu, Removal of antibiotic tetracycline by metal-organic framework MIL-101 (Cr) loaded nano zerovalent iron, J. Mol. Liq. 313 (2020) 113512.
- [273] W. Xiong, G. Zeng, Z. Yang, Y. Zhou, C. Zhang, M. Cheng, Y. Liu, L. Hu, J. Wan, C. Zhou, Adsorption of tetracycline antibiotics from aqueous solutions on nanocomposite multi-walled carbon nanotube functionalized MIL-53 (Fe) as new adsorbent, Sci. Total Environ. 627 (2018) 235–244.
- [274] C. Li, X. Zhang, S. Wen, R. Xiang, Y. Han, W. Tang, T. Yue, Z. Li, Interface engineering of zeolite imidazolate framework– 8 on two-dimensional Al– metal– organic framework nanoplates enhancing performance for simultaneous capture and sensing tetracyclines, J. Hazard. Mater. 395 (2020) 122615.
- [275] Y. Kong, K. Han, Y. Zhuang, B. Shi, Facile Synthesis of MOFs-Templated Carbon Aerogels with Enhanced Tetracycline Adsorption Performance, Water. 14 (2022) 504.
- [276] J. Pan, X. Bai, Y. Li, B. Yang, P. Yang, F. Yu, J. Ma, HKUST-1 derived carbon adsorbents for tetracycline removal with excellent adsorption performance, Environ. Res. 205 (2022) 112425.
- [277] T.V. Tran, D.T.C. Nguyen, H.T. Le, L.G. Bach, D.-V.-N. Vo, K.T. Lim, L.X. Nong, T. D. Nguyen, Combined minimum-run resolution IV and central composite design for optimized removal of the tetracycline drug over metal–organic framework-templated porous carbon, Molecules 24 (2019) 1887.
- [278] X. Lin, W. Zeng, Y. Chen, T. Su, Q. Zhong, L. Gong, Y. Liu, UiO-66-derived porous-carbon adsorbents: synthesis, characterization and tetracycline adsorption performance, Carbon Lett. (2022) 1–10.
- [279] C. Liang, Y. Tang, X. Zhang, H. Chai, Y. Huang, P. Feng, ZIF-mediated N-doped hollow porous carbon as a high performance adsorbent for tetracycline removal from water with wide pH range, Environ. Res. 182 (2020) 109059.
- [280] J. Ma, D. Zhu, G.D. Sheng, P. O'Connor, Y.-G. Zhu, Soil oxytetracycline exposure alters the microbial community and enhances the abundance of antibiotic resistance genes in the gut of Enchytraeus crypticus, Sci. Total Environ. 673 (2019) 357–366.
- [281] Y. Sun, Q. Yue, B. Gao, Y. Wang, Y. Gao, Q. Li, Preparation of highly developed mesoporous activated carbon by H4P207 activation and its adsorption behavior for oxytetracycline, Powder Technol. 249 (2013) 54–62.
- [282] L. Huang, Y. Sun, W. Wang, Q. Yue, T. Yang, Comparative study on characterization of activated carbons prepared by microwave and conventional heating methods and application in removal of oxytetracycline (OTC), Chem. Eng. J. 171 (2011) 1446–1453.
- [283] D. Djedouani, M. Chabani, A. Amrane, A. Bensmaili, Application of shrinking core model to the adsorption of oxytetracycline onto peanut hull-derived activated carbon in a closed-loop fixed-bed reactor, Desalin. Water Treat. 57 (2016) 14304–14314.
- [284] Y. Sun, Q. Yue, B. Gao, Q. Li, L. Huang, F. Yao, X. Xu, Preparation of activated carbon derived from cotton linter fibers by fused NaOH activation and its application for oxytetracycline (OTC) adsorption, J. Colloid Interface Sci. 368 (2012) 521–527.
- [285] D.T.C. Nguyen, D.-V.-N. Vo, C.N.Q. Nguyen, L.H.A. Pham, H.T. Le, T.T.T. Nguyen, T.V. Tran, Box-Behnken design, kinetic, and isotherm models for oxytetracycline adsorption onto Co-based ZIF-67, Appl. Nanosci. 11 (2021) 2347–2359.
- [286] M. Wang, Z. Zhao, S. Lin, M. Su, B. Liang, S. Liang, New insight into the coadsorption of oxytetracycline and Pb (II) using magnetic metal–organic frameworks composites in aqueous environment: co-adsorption mechanisms and application potentials, Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 1–15 (2022).
- [287] Â. Almeida, V.I. Esteves, A.M. Soares, R. Freitas, Effects of carbamazepine in bivalves: a review, Rev. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 254 (2020) 163–181.
- [288] M. Baghdadi, E. Ghaffari, B. Aminzadeh, Removal of carbamazepine from municipal wastewater effluent using optimally synthesized magnetic activated carbon: adsorption and sedimentation kinetic studies, J. Environ. Chem. Eng. 4 (2016) 3309–3321.

- [289] D. Pereira, L.S. Rocha, M.V. Gil, M. Otero, N.J. Silva, V.I. Esteves, V. Calisto, In situ functionalization of a cellulosic-based activated carbon with magnetic iron oxides for the removal of carbamazepine from wastewater, Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 28 (2021) 18314–18327.
- [290] J. Chen, D. Zhang, H. Zhang, S. Ghosh, B. Pan, Fast and slow adsorption of carbamazepine on biochar as affected by carbon structure and mineral composition, Sci. Total Environ. 579 (2017) 598–605.
- [291] N. Suriyanon, P. Punyapalakul, C. Ngamcharussrivichai, Mechanistic study of diclofenac and carbamazepine adsorption on functionalized silica-based porous materials, Chem. Eng. J. 214 (2013) 208–218.
- [292] C. Daou, S. Rafqah, F. Najjar, H. Anane, A. Piram, A. Hamade, S. Briche, P. Wong-Wah-Chung, TiO2 and activated carbon of Argania Spinosa tree nutshells composites for the adsorption photocatalysis removal of pharmaceuticals from aqueous solution, J. Photochem. Photobiol. Chem. 388 (2020) 112183.
- [293] M.-H. To, P. Hadi, C.-W. Hui, C.S.K. Lin, G. McKay, Mechanistic study of atenolol, acebutolol and carbamazepine adsorption on waste biomass derived activated carbon, J. Mol. Liq. 241 (2017) 386–398.
- [294] A.F. Sousa, M.V. Gil, V. Calisto, Upcycling spent brewery grains through the production of carbon adsorbents—application to the removal of carbamazepine from water, Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 27 (2020) 36463–36475.
- [295] S.Á. Torrellas, R.G. Lovera, N. Escalona, C. Sepúlveda, J.L. Sotelo, J. García, Chemical-activated carbons from peach stones for the adsorption of emerging contaminants in aqueous solutions, Chem. Eng. J. 279 (2015) 788–798.
- [296] M.C. Ncibi, M. Sillanpää, Optimizing the removal of pharmaceutical drugs Carbamazepine and Dorzolamide from aqueous solutions using mesoporous activated carbons and multi-walled carbon nanotubes, J. Mol. Liq. 238 (2017) 379–388.
- [297] N. Delgado, A. Capparelli, A. Navarro, D. Marino, Pharmaceutical emerging pollutants removal from water using powdered activated carbon: study of kinetics and adsorption equilibrium, J. Environ. Manage. 236 (2019) 301–308.
- [298] S. Álvarez-Torrellas, J. Peres, V. Gil-Álvarez, G. Ovejero, J. García, Effective adsorption of non-biodegradable pharmaceuticals from hospital wastewater with different carbon materials, Chem. Eng. J. 320 (2017) 319–329.
- [299] Z. Yu, S. Peldszus, W.B. Anderson, P.M. Huck, Adsorption of selected pharmaceuticals and endocrine disrupting substances by GAC at low concentration levels, in: 2005.
- [300] A.S. Mestre, A. Nabiço, P.L. Figueiredo, M.L. Pinto, M.S.C. Santos, I.M. Fonseca, Enhanced clofibric acid removal by activated carbons: Water hardness as a key parameter, Chem. Eng. J. 286 (2016) 538–548.
- [301] A. Gil, N. Taoufik, A. García, S. Korili, Comparative removal of emerging contaminants from aqueous solution by adsorption on an activated carbon, Environ. Technol. (2018).
- [302] L. Bo, N. Gao, J. Liu, B. Gao, The competitive adsorption of pharmaceuticals on granular activated carbon in secondary effluent, Desalin. Water Treat. 57 (2016) 17023–17029.
- [303] S.C. Marques, J.M. Marcuzzo, M.R. Baldan, A.S. Mestre, A.P. Carvalho, Pharmaceuticals removal by activated carbons: role of morphology on cyclic thermal regeneration, Chem. Eng. J. 321 (2017) 233–244.
- [304] S. Rojas, J.A. Navarro, P. Horcajada, Metal-organic frameworks for the removal of the emerging contaminant atenolol under real conditions, Dalton Trans. 50 (2021) 2493–2500.
- [305] N.K. Haro, P. Del Vecchio, N.R. Marcilio, L.A. Féris, Removal of atenolol by adsorption-Study of kinetics and equilibrium, J. Clean. Prod. 154 (2017) 214– 219.
- [306] A.A. Ahmad, A.T.M. Din, N.K.E. Yahaya, J. Karim, M.A. Ahmad, Atenolol sequestration using activated carbon derived from gasified Glyricidia sepium, Arab. J. Chem. 13 (2020) 7544–7557.

- [307] S.C. Paul, L.J. Githinji, R.O. Ankumah, K.R. Willian, G. Pritchett, Sorption behavior of ibuprofen and naproxen in simulated domestic wastewater, Water Air Soil Pollut. 225 (2014) 1–11.
- [308] F.M.O. Medina, M.B. Aguiar, M.E. Parolo, M.J. Avena, Insights of competitive adsorption on activated carbon of binary caffeine and diclofenac solutions, J. Environ. Manage. 278 (2021) 111523.
- [309] M. Franzreb, New classes of selective separations exploiting magnetic adsorbents, Spec. Top. Colloidal Interfacial Chall. Relat. Sep. Anal. Recycl. 46 (2020) 65–76, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cocis.2020.03.012.
- [310] W. Li, R. Wang, Z. Chen, Zr-based metal-organic framework-modified cotton for solid phase micro-extraction of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, J. Chromatogr. A 1576 (2018) 19–25.
- [311] M. Wu, H. Ye, F. Zhao, B. Zeng, High-quality metal-organic framework ZIF-8 membrane supported on electrodeposited ZnO/2-methylimidazole nanocomposite: efficient adsorbent for the enrichment of acidic drugs, Sci. Rep. 7 (2017) 1–9.
- [312] X.-Y. Xu, C. Chu, H. Fu, X.-D. Du, P. Wang, W. Zheng, C.-C. Wang, Lightresponsive UiO-66-NH2/Ag3PO4 MOF-nanoparticle composites for the capture and release of sulfamethoxazole, Chem. Eng. J. 350 (2018) 436–444.
- [313] M. Ding, X. Cai, H.-L. Jiang, Improving MOF stability: approaches and applications, Chem. Sci. 10 (2019) 10209–10230.
- [314] B. Fernández-Reyes, S. Morales-Jiménez, J.C. Muñoz-Senmache, D.R. Vega-Santander, A.J. Hernández-Maldonado, Single-and multi-component adsorption of selected contaminants of emerging concern from water and some of their metabolites onto hierarchical porous copper (II)-zeoliteactivated carbon composite, Microporous Mesoporous Mater. 312 (2021) 110355.
- [315] M. Rubio-Martinez, C. Avci-Camur, A.W. Thornton, I. Imaz, D. Maspoch, M.R. Hill, New synthetic routes towards MOF production at scale, Chem. Soc. Rev. 46 (2017) 3453–3480.
- [316] G. Schukraft, C. Petit, Green synthesis and engineering applications of metalorganic frameworks, in: Sustain. Nanoscale Eng., Elsevier, 2020, pp. 139–162.
- [317] X. Dyosiba, J. Ren, N.M. Musyoka, H.W. Langmi, M. Mathe, M.S. Onyango, Feasibility of varied polyethylene terephthalate wastes as a linker source in metal-organic framework UiO-66 (Zr) synthesis, Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 58 (2019) 17010-17016.
- [318] E. Cho, S.Y. Lee, J.-W. Choi, S.-H. Kim, K.-W. Jung, Direct upcycling of polyethylene terephthalate (PET) waste bottles into α-Fe2O3 incorporated MIL-53 (Al) for the synthesis of Al2O3/Fe3O4-encapsulated magnetic carbon composite and efficient removal of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, Sep. Purif. Technol. 279 (2021) 119719.
- [319] B. Slater, S.-O. Wong, A. Duckworth, A.J. White, M.R. Hill, B.P. Ladewig, Upcycling a plastic cup: one-pot synthesis of lactate containing metal organic frameworks from polylactic acid, Chem. Commun. 55 (2019) 7319–7322.
- [320] J.-B. Lin, T.T. Nguyen, R. Vaidhyanathan, J. Burner, J.M. Taylor, H. Durekova, F. Akhtar, R.K. Mah, O. Ghaffari-Nik, S. Marx, A scalable metal-organic framework as a durable physisorbent for carbon dioxide capture, Science 374 (2021) 1464–1469.
- [321] R. Greifenstein, T. Ballweg, T. Hashem, E. Gottwald, D. Achauer, F. Kirschhöfer, M. Nusser, G. Brenner-Weiß, E. Sedghamiz, W. Wenzel, MOF-hosted enzymes for continuous flow catalysis in aqueous and organic solvents, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 61 (2022) e202117144.
- [322] H.C. Streit, M. Adlung, O. Shekhah, X. Stammer, H.K. Arslan, O. Zybaylo, T. Ladnorg, H. Gliemann, M. Franzreb, C. Wöll, Surface-Anchored MOF-Based Photonic Antennae, ChemPhysChem 13 (2012) 2699–2702.
- [323] Hamdi Mihciokur, Merve Oguz, Removal of oxytetracycline and determining its biosorption properties on aerobic granular sludge, Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology 46 (2016) 174–182, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. etap.2016.07.017.